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This document has been reviewed by the Company’s Sponsor, RHT Capital Pte. Ltd., for compliance with the relevant rules
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). The Company’s Sponsor has not independently verified
the contents of this document. This document has not been examined or approved by the SGX-ST and the SGX-ST assumes
no responsibility for the contents of this document, including the correctness of any of the statements or opinions made or
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The details of the contact person for the Sponsor is Ms. Amanda Chen, Registered Professional, Address: Six Battery Road,

#10-01 Singapore 049909, Tel: (65) 6381 6757.
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It is Asia’s leading online travel company that offers a global inventory of over 8 million travel
products through its multi-channel distribution platforms. Its online booking feature the all-
inclusive packages which strongly appeals to travellers seeking convenience, instant confirmation
and extra savings. Its ability to provide full suite of travel products establishes its distinctive position
in the online travel market.

Serving customers worldwide through 13 major language sites, its 19 offices in Asia, Middle East
and Europe operate and provide 24 X 7 customer services. With comprehensive ground experience,
supplier relationships, proprietary systems and operational knowledge, Asiatravel.com maintains a
strong travel brand recognised for its reliability, sincerity and integrity for consumers and partners
alike. Its recent award includes the Best Online Travel Agency 2015, for the 3rd consecutive year by
TTG Travel Awards Asia Pacific.

Established in 1995, it is listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange since 2001. Its B2B division consists

of TAcentre.com and Savio-Staff-Travel, serving the travel trade and corporate sectors respectively.
For more information please visit www.asiatravel.com

BOOK TOGETHER & ENJOY UP TO 3020 ADDITIONAL SAVINGS!

BEST PRICE GUARANTEED

On All Hotels. Choice Of Over 200,000 Hotels Worldwide
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“The Group believes
that it has putin
place vital strategies
and corporate
action plan that
would best enhance

n”

shareholders’ value!

BOH TUANG POH

Executive Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Dear Shareholders,

Asiatravel.com Holdings Ltd (“Asiatravel”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), resilient online
business model had weathered the intense competitive in the online travel space and has recorded revenue
growth of 14.8% (S$13.2 million) to $$102.9 million for the financial year under review when compared to $$89.7
million in the corresponding financial year in FY2015. The net loss before tax decreased by 23.3% (5$2.7 million)
to $$8.8 million for financial year under review when compared to S$11.5 million net loss before tax in the
corresponding year in FY 2015.

Online Businesses

The Group has managed to grow its revenue by 14.8% to $$102.9 million in FY2016 as compared to $$89.7
million in the previous corresponding financial year despite cutting back on its A&P spending from S$$3.7
million in FY2015 to $$2.7 million in current financial year under review. The Group has achieved this against a
back drop of aggressive A&P spending by its online competitors to capture market share in the Group'’s core
S.E Asia and Middle East markets and destinations.

The Group's gross profit decreased as the Group reduced mark up to maintain market share. The Group net loss
decrease by 23.3% from S$11.5 million in FY 2015 to S$8.8 million in the current financial year under review.

The Group has a network of ground operation and 19 offices in Asia, Middle East and Europe operate and
provide 24 X 7 customer services. With comprehensive ground experience, supplier relationships, proprietary
systems and operational knowledge, Asiatravel.com maintains a strong travel brand recognised for its
reliability, sincerity and integrity for consumers and partners alike.

Customers have aselection of over 200,000 worldwide hotels and 8 million tour packages productsincluding all-
inclusive flight, hotel, airport transfer and tour/activity/attraction package departing from airports throughout
Asia. We believe we are the first mover, if not the only online travel agency that is able to offer the all-inclusive
flight, hotel, airport transfer and tour/activity/attraction package bookable on instant confirmation basis.
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Growth Strategy

Since FY2015, the Group’s senior management have spent substantial time in China setting up IT and product
development team to build a China centric website and mobile application with user interfaces dedicated for
the Chinese outbound travelers, setting up operational, customer service and marketing team to market and
position itself as a China outbound travel player to achieve a successful penetration into this very important
market.

China’s outbound tourism in 2015 grew at a stellar rate of 53% exceeding 125 million travellers. The total
outbound travel spent reached USD125 billion making China the highest travel spending source market in the
world. Based on World Tourism & Travel Council (WTTC)’s August 2016 report, while the future global travel
sector is targeted to grow annually at 3.1%, outpacing global economic growth of 2.3%, China’s outbound
travel is targeted to continue growing at 6.3%.

With the Group’s product portfolio of over 200,000 hotels worldwide and 8 million (s.k.u.) tours and travel
packages, and an established destination and ground servicing and product development and contracting
network in South-East Asia to support the China operations, the Group in FY2016 successfully launched 2
Chinese platforms: namely Atrip.com for consumer (B2C) online reservations and TAcenter.cn (“JC3J®") for
the travel trade segment (B2B) in China. In the coming months, the group will launch Savio Staff Travel, its
B2B2C online platform targeted at large companies as a staff benefits’ program for their travel where the staff
can enjoy rates between the consumer and the wholesale channel.

In the FY2016, the revenue from China outbound business recorded at $$31.9 million or 32.7% of the Group'’s
revenue, representing a significant growth of 70.0% from the previous year’s revenue of $$18.8 million
generated from China outbound business.

To conclude, the Group believes that it has put in place vital strategies and corporate action plan that would
best enhance shareholders’ value.

In appreciation

Finally, | am pleased to report that we have again won the prestigious “Best Online Travel Agency 2016”"
awarded at the 27th Annual TTG Travel Awards 2016. This marks fourth consecutive years of Asiatravel being
awarded this title from 2013 to 2016.

We would also like to take this opportunity to thank our customers, suppliers and vendors, business partners
and associates, employees and key stakeholders for supporting us to maintain our position as one of the
leading independent Pan-Asia online travel groups.

Boh Tuang Poh
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

3
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with Instant
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|. Boh Tuang Poh (“Mr Boh”) is our Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and with his vast
experience in online businesses, he is responsible for setting corporate policy, directions and business
strategy. He founded Asiatravel in 1995. Mr Boh was bestowed “The Tourist Entrepreneur of the Year 2002"
Mr Boh is a member in the Company’s Nominating Committee.

2. Sheng Fagiang (“Mr Sheng”) is our Non-Executive Director of since 2013. He is a member of the Audit
Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committees. He graduated with an EMBA from Tsinghua
University in Beiling and has over 15 years of experience in the outdoor products industry. Mr Sheng
founded Toread Holdings Group Co. Ltd (formerly known as “Beiling Toread Outdoors Products Co.,Ltd”") in
1999, which was listed on ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2009, and he is also the Chairman of
Toread Holdings Group Co. Ltd. Mr Sheng was bestowed “The most respected chairman of Chinese listed
companies in 2013".

3. Heng Su-Ling Mae (“Ms Heng") is our Independent Non-Executive Director since 2012. She is the
Chairperson for the Audit and Remuneration Committees and a member of the Nomination Committee.
Mae is also an Independent Non-Executive Director of Malaysian listed Apex Healthcare Berhad and
Singapore listed Ossia International Limited. Mae graduated with a Bachelor of Accountancy from Nanyang
Technological University, Singapore in 1992 and is a Chartered Accountant with the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants. She has over 16 years of experience in an audit, corporate finance and business
advisory environment with Ernst and Young Singapore. She holds directorships in her family-owned
investment holding companies.

4. Tan Kheng Lee Arnold (“MrTan") is our Independent Director since 2005 and is also the Chairman of
the Nominating Committee and a member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees. He is currently a
Partner in Rajah & Tann, a law firm in Singapore and practices in the area of corporate and commercial law.
He graduated in 1988 and holds an honours degree in law from the London School of Economics, University
of London.
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At Reservation Open Gate Development

Network Pte Ltd
SINGAPORE

Asia Travel
Network Ltd
HONG KONG

Asia Middle East
Tours & Travel LLC

AT Chinese (HK) Ltd
CHINA

Asiatravel Online
Sdn Bhd

Limited
BRITISH VIRGIN
ISLANDS

AT Phil. Inc
PHILIPPINES

AT Network Co Ltd
THAILAND

UAE

SH Tours Pte Ltd
SINGAPORE
(Inbound Ground
Handling)

AT Express Pte Ltd
SINGAPORE
(Wholesale)

Free N Easy Travel
Pte Ltd
SINGAPORE
(China outbound

MALAYSIA

AT Express
Reservation
Private Limited
INDIA

China Branches
BELJING, SHANGHAI,
GUANGZHOU
NANJING, CHENGDU

GROUP OF COMPANIES

Corporate Consumer Ground Wholesale China Others
Office Online Units  Handling Units Units Outbound Units
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AWARDS RECEIVED THROUGH THE YEARS ARE A TESTAMENT TO ASIATRAVEL
AND MANAGEMENT’S CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE INDUSTRY.
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OPERATION REVIEW
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Itis Asia’s leading online travel company that offers a global inventory of over 8 million travel products through its
multi-channel distribution platforms. Its online booking feature the all-inclusive packages which strongly appeals
to travellers seeking convenience, instant confirmation and extra savings. Its ability to provide full suite of travel
products establishes its distinctive position in the online travel market.

Serving customers worldwide through 13 major language sites, its 19 offices in Asia, Middle East and Europe
operate and provide 24 X 7 customer services. With comprehensive ground experience, supplier relationships,
proprietary systems and operational knowledge, Asiatravel.com maintains a strong travel brand recognised for its
reliability, sincerity and integrity for consumers and partners alike. Its recent award includes the Best Online Travel
Agency 2016, for the 4th consecutive year by TTG Travel Awards Asia Pacific.

Established in 1995, it is listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange since 2001. Its B2B division consists of TAcentre.
com and Savio-Staff-Travel, serving the travel trade and corporate sectors respectively. For more information
please visit www.asiatravel.com

Financial Review

The Group's revenue increased by 14.8% (5$13.2 million) to $$102.9 million for the financial year under review
when compared to $$89.7 million in the FY2016. The increase in the Group's revenue was mainly due to revenue
from online B2B (TAcentre.com) business increased by 98.1% (S$16.9 million) from S$17.2 million in FY2015
to $$34.1 million in FY2016. The increase is mainly due to TACentre.com penetrating more markets and the
increase in take up rate from travel agencies.

The Group's other income increased by 253.6% (5$3.8 million) from S$1.5 million in FY2015 to S$5.3 million in
FY2016 is mainly due to provision of technical support pursuant to an agreement with a China-based travel
agency.
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The Group's other operating expenses decreased by 13.5% (S$1.9 million) from S$14.5 million in FY2015 to
$$12.6 million in FY 2016. The decrease is mainly due to the cut back on Advertising and Promotion expenses
("A&P") of $$1.0 million from S$3.7 million in FY2015 to S$2.7 million in FY 2016.

The Group gross profit decreased by $$1.6 million from S$14.4 million in FY2015 to $S$12.8 million in FY 2016.The
main reason is a reduced margin to maintain market share amidst strong online competition.

Business Review

Since FY2015, the Group's senior management have spent substantial time in China setting up IT and product
development team to build a China centric website and mobile application with user interfaces dedicated for
the Chinese outbound travelers, setting up operational, customer service and marketing team to market and
position itself as a China outbound travel player to achieve a successful penetration into this very important
market.

China’s outbound tourism in 2015 grew at a stellar rate of 53% exceeding 125 million travellers. The total
outbound travel spent reached USD125 billion making China the highest travel spending source market in the
world. Based on World Tourism & Travel Council (WTTC)’s August 2016 report, while the future global travel
sector is targeted to grow annually at 3.1%, outpacing global economic growth of 2.3%, China'’s outbound travel
is targeted to continue growing at 6.3%.

With the Group’s product portfolio of over 200,000 hotels worldwide and 8 million (s.k.u.) tours and travel
packages, and an established destination and ground servicing and product development and contracting
network in South-East Asia to support the China operations, the Group in FY2016 successfully launched 2
Chinese platforms: namely Atrip.com for consumer (B2C) online reservations and TAcenter.cn (“;CITR”) for the
travel trade segment (B2B) in China. In the coming months, the group will launch Savio Staff Travel, its B2B2C
online platform targeted at large companies as a staff benefits’ program for their travel where the staff can enjoy
rates between the consumer and the wholesale channel.

In the FY2016, the revenue from China outbound business recorded at $$31.9 million or 32.7% of the Group’s
revenue, representing a significant growth of 70.0% from the previous year’s revenue of $$18.8 million generated
from China outbound business.

With the recent Placement Consideration of $$9.4 million secured, the Group is now ready to further ramp up its
China operations. The group will also explore acquisition opportunities as part of its plans to expand operations
in the PRC.

Going forward, the Group expect the China outbound operation to continue its high double digit revenue
growth rate. These would greatly monetise our past few years investment on IT system and platform, product
development, destination and ground servicing and supply network in S.E.Asia.

We believe as a China centric player, we have greater opportunities to continue our growth and enhance
shareholder value.

Information source:
http://money.cnn.com/2016/03/21/news/economy/china-travel-tourism-record-spending/
Travel & Tourism — Economic Impact 2016 by World Travel & Tourism Council
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TRANSFER,
TOURS &
SIGHTSEEING

THEME ADVENTURE

PARK
ATTRACTIONS HOTELS ACTIVITIES

FLIGHTS

INSURANCE & CRUISE
VALUE ADDED & GOLF
SERVICES

MULTI-CURRENCY FULFILLMENT
PAYMENT GATEWAY

INSTANT
CONFIRMATION

Asiatravel.com has three core
products of Flights, Hotels, and
Tours & Packages, which can be
combined in any way to satisfy
our customers’ needs. In addition,
the company offers sightseeing
tours, insurance, golf, cruise and
other value added services. These
products and services are available
with multi-currency payment options
and instant confirmation.
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OUR KEY STRENGTHS

MULTI-CHANNEL DISTRIBUTION NETWORK
Asiatravel.com
[EE—

¢ Online Consumers e Wholesaling Network

¢ Hotel & Affiliates Websites e Travel Agencies Websites

* Bank & Redemption Programs e Concierges

¢ Mobile Travel Agent — Roadundee ¢ Hotel Tour Desks
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(in S$ million except per share data)

FISCAL YEAR (END SEP)

FY2013

FY2012 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

INCOME STATEMENT

Revenues 91.4 87.1 91.4 89.7 102.9
Profit Attributable to Equity Holders -3.8 -5.7 -9.6 -10.8 -8.80
Basic EPS (cents) -1.55 -2.37 -3.36 -3.28 -2.30
Diluted EPS (cents) -1.55 -2.37 -3.36 -3.28 -2.30
BALANCE SHEET

Cash and Cash Equivalents 46 3.9 55 6.1 3.9
EBITDA 1.8 -4.1 -8.1 -8.8 -5.3
Shareholders’ Equity 249 19.4 244 24.7 23.0
Total Assets 41.9 39.1 40.3 43.2 435

TRAVEL PRODUCT ONLINE SALES PERFORMANCE

Hotel - Number of Room Nights 469,923 437,765 455,874 426,661 489,075
Flights - Number of Air Tickets 22,301 23,092 25,490 19,745 15,821
Tours & Packages - Number of Pax 225,477 240,513 285917 312,396 329,087

HOTELS WITH INSTANT CONFIRMATION




FLIGHTS + HOTELS + TOUR PACKAGES
LOW PRICE GUARANTEED

Www.aswtravel.com
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SINGAPORE CORPORATE OFFICE:

Asiatravel.com Holdings Ltd
615 Lorong 4 Toa Payoh
#01-01 Storhub

Singapore 319516

Tel : (65) 67326773

Fax:(65) 6732 1226

SINGAPORE MAIN RESERVATION

OFFICE:

AT Reservation Network Pte Ltd
615 Lorong 4 Toa Payoh

#01-01 Storhub

Singapore 319516

Tel : (65) 6235 2498, 6887 4347
Fax : (65) 6235 7620

SINGAPORE TOUR DIVISION:

SH Tours Pte Ltd

615 Lorong 4 Toa Payoh
#01-01 Storhub
Singapore 319516

Tel : (65) 6734 9923
Fax:(65) 6738 7955

SINGAPORE WHOLESALER:
AT Express Pte Ltd.

615 Lorong 4 Toa Payoh

#01-01 Storhub

Singapore 319516

Tel : (65) 6734 3933

Fax: (65) 6235 3933

HONG KONG:

Asia Travel Network Ltd
Rm A, 4/F, Milton Mansion,
96 Nathan Road

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

Tel : (852) 2736 0922

Fax : (852) 2405 0922

THAILAND:

AT Network Co. Ltd.

Lumpini Tower, 1168/89 30th Floor
Rama 4 Road, Tungmahamek,
Sathorn Bangkok 10120,

Thailand

Tel (6 lines) : (662) 677 6240-5

Fax (2 lines) : (662) 677 6246-7

MALAYSIA:

Asiatravel Online Sdn Bhd
Patent House

148-03, 3rd Floor

JIn Bukit Bintang 55100
Kuala Lumpur

Tel : 603 - 2143 6555
Fax:603 - 2143 6558

PHILIPPINES:

AT Phil., Inc

G/F, Edgardo Angara Wing,

IBP Bldg., Jade Street, Ortigas Center,

Pasig City, Metro Manila 1605 Philippines
Tel :(632) 634-4220/40/60, (632) 635-5099,
Fax : (632) 635-6699, 910-4206

PHILIPPINES - CEBU BRANCH:
Lobby, Waterfront Airport Hotel

1 Airport Road, Lapu-Lapu City,

Cebu, Philippines

Tel : (6332) 341-20-35

Fax :(6332) 341-20-36

DUBAI:
Asia Middle East Tours and Travel LLC.

Unit 701 Al Zarooni Bldg, Al Rigga Road, Deira

PO Box 112758 Dubai, United Arab Emirates
Tel. No: (+971 4) 250-2250
Fax No: (+971 4) 250-2252



INDIA:

AT Express Reservation Pvt Ltd

412-A, Deepshikha, Rajendra Place
New Delhi 110 008

Tel: (9111) 4150 8880, (9198) 1057 4477
Fax:(9111) 4246 3237

CHINA:

FreeNEasy Travel Pte Ltd - Guangzhou Branch
233 Tianhe North Road,

218 Sky Galleria, Citic Plaza, Guangzhou

Tel : 020-3877 2345

Fax :020-3891 1002

FreeNEasy Travel Pte Ltd - Beijing Branch

SOHO Shangdu,

North Block Level 3 Unit 2310, 8 Dong Da Qiao Rd
haoyang District, PC 100022

Tel : 010-58697754

Fax:010-58697634

FreeNEasy Travel Pte Ltd - Shanghai Branch
409-459 Nanjing East Road

Unit 1303 Landmark Plaza,

Shanghai 200001, China

Tel : 021-63603633

Fax: 021-63604540

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

CHINA:

FreeNEasy Travel Pte Ltd - Call Centre
1 Lin He Xi Road West,Tian He,

Level 36 D.E.F, Guangzhou International
Trader Center, Guangzhou

Hotline : 400-830 2353 / 020-8513 3888
Fax:020-8513 3999

FreeNEasy Travel Pte Ltd - Nanjing Branch
288 East Zhongshan Rd,

Baixia District, New Century Plaza,

Block A, #904, Nanjing PC 21002

Tel : 025-5878 2620

Fax:025-5878 2630

FreeNEasy Travel Pte Ltd - Chengdu Branch
1 Fuxing Road,

1809, Huamin Empire Plaza,

Chengdu, PC610016

Tel : 028-8200 3900

Fax:028-8670 3340
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Yeo Wee Tiang, Magdalene

Executive Vice President of Operations for
Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, China,
Indo-China, Middle-East, Multi Media Division
and Product Development

Yeo Wee Khim, Lisa
Executive Vice President, Group Operations

Fred Seow
Senior Vice President of Marketing and B2B

Tan Hwa Poh
Chief Executive Officer, AT Express Pte Ltd

Duangrat Huayhongthong
General Manager for Thailand

Catherine Khng
Assistant General Manager of SH Tours Pte Ltd

Ang Yen Leng, Chelyn
Chief Financial Officer

Nicolas J. Rocha
Executive Vice President for Philippines,
Thailand and Hong Kong

David Boh
Senior Vice President — China Operations

Francis R. Asuncion
Assistant Vice President for Thailand

Francis Lee
Assistant General Manager of AT Reservation
Network Pte Ltd

Amelou Villamanto Flores
Assistant General Manager for Middle-East
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

DIRECTORS

Boh Tuang Poh

(Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Sheng Fagiang (Non-Executive Director)

Heng Su-Ling Mae (Lead Independent Director)
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold (Independent Director)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Heng Su-Ling Mae (Chairman)
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold

Sheng Fagiang

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Heng Su-Ling Mae (Chairman)

Tan Kheng Lee Arnold

Sheng Fagiang

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold (Chairman)
Boh Tuang Poh

Heng Su-Ling Mae

Sheng Fagiang

COMPANY SECRETARY
Shirley Tan Sey Liy (ACIS)

REGISTERED OFFICE
615 Lorong 4 Toa Payoh
#01-01 Storhub

Singapore 319516

Tel : 6732 6773

Fax:6732 1226

Email : info@asiatravel.com

REGISTRAR AND SHARE
TRANSFER OFFICE

RHT Corporate Advisory Pte. Ltd.
9 Raffles Place #29-01

Republic Plaza Tower

Singapore 048619

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young LLP
One Raffles Quay
North Tower, Level 18
Singapore 048583

PARTNER-IN-CHARGE

Ng Boon Heng

(Date of appointment: Since financial
year ended 30 September 2016)

BANKERS

Citibank N.A.

DBS Group Holdings Limited

United Overseas Bank Limited
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

FAQs

»
www.aslatravel.com
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Wlapa di Ume

a very different resort & spa

Wapa di Ume Resort & Spa - Ubud
Jalan Suweta Banjar Bentuyung Ubud,
Bali 80571 Indonesia
Tel: +62 361 973178
Fax: +62 361 973179
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Bali Palms Resort
Jl. Raya Candidasa - Amla[:)ura 80851, Bali Indonesia
Phone: +6236342191 « Fax: +6236342194 « Website: www.balipalmsresortcom




KOMANEKA AT RASA SAYANG
Jalan Monkey Forest,Ubud 80571,
Bali - Indonesia

t: +62 361 975491

f: +62 361 971955
reservation@komaneka.com

RAMAYANA

resort & spa

KOMANEKA

at Rasa Sayang

RAMAYANA RESORT & SPA

Jalan Bakungsari, Kuta - Bali, Indonesia
Tel: +62 361 751864 | Fax: +62 361 751866
Email: reservation@ramayanahotel.com
\Website: www.ramayanahotel.com
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RAMA CANDIDASA DIVE & SPA RESORT
JI. Raya Sengkidu, Candidasa, Amlapura - Bali
reservation@ramacandidasahotel.com
RAMA +62 363 41974 F: +62 363 41975
dive & spa resort www.ramacandidasahotel.com

Hotel Vila Ombak

Gili Trawangan Island, Lombok, West Nusa Tenggara, Indonesia
Tel.+62 (370) 6142336 Fax. +62 (370) 6142337

E-mail: reservation@vilaombak.com

Website: www.vilaombak.com
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The Mew Mercure Singapore Bugis has 395 heritage - inspired rooms located in the heart of Singapore's arts
and cultural district Also situated within 5 minutes from Bugis MRT, the hetel offers unlimited mabile
internat access an a handy smartphone, a chic lobby lounge ar BARTistry@Cne2 2, meering facilities with an
outdoor terrace and western restaurant at Sauces by Chefl Daniel. Other facilities mclude a 24-hour gym
and an infinity lap poal

133 M AOAD SINGANORE 188573 DISCOVER MeErcure
F A t COM MERCURE i

Peninsula. Excelsior Hotel

5 Coleman Street Singapore 179805
Tel: (65) 6337 2200 Fax: (65) 6339 3847
Website: www.ytchotels.com




WAYS TO CET
THE MOST OUT OF
YOUR HOLIDAY

Mataysia's premiers action and adventure destination
delivers In spades when [t comes o pulting amiles on your
faces, A whotesoma family gxpenence awails you batind our
majestic walls with everything you could possibly want from
amusemant park RoDE 10 eCo-advontura thills! That's nol all,
we're also incaled in one of Malaysia’s mast historke ioven
ngh with cuftura and heatage. More than just 3 themepaerk,
wi're f desdination

Laugh out foud fum and h};a‘.i;
e armussenent park

Learn, nlvact and expavience a A gumey back b die o bhe
finne and engaging pefting oo, piony days of Bin atf T Waloy and
Dhewng Tea House

Fekas o uwind af the test mare coogusl xste, bake a
ke o Apings poods anod S0 o Lot Mok pah
wi B cowrinf

(peratinn Holrs:

LOST WORLD OF TAMBUN

W gy (Man-Fri): 11.00am-&.00pm,

Woekands (Sai-Sunj, Pubilic Holidays, Schaol Helidays: 10.06am - &.00pm
Close avery Tuesday isceot Public Holidays & School Holidays)

LOST WORLD HOT SPRINGS AND SPA [BY NIGHT)
Open nightly: 6.00 prm-11.00pm

For e o & oale Dokps
@ 605.542.8880 @ www.sunwaylostworldeftambun.com

SUNWAY"




For the perfect comfort, anytime!

Eastin Hotal Kuala Lumpur i an award-winning busingss clags hotel of international standady, situated srategically on Jalan
Damansana, a0 up-market location nestled conveniently within the vicinity of Qoif courses, shopoing malls and office bulldings.

Dur spaciout function rooms combined with 388 guestrooms and pllladless grand ballroom cater for amy number of delegates
from 10 1o 800 at one go depending on seating amangements. Eastin Hotel Kuala Lumpur 5 designed (o sult business o
latpurp travelars with impaccable Sensace from tha Heart at its best.

E&S'I'mll' 13, Jalan 16/11, Pusat Dagang Seksyen 15, 45350, Petaling Jaya, Matiysia
O Teb+£03 76651111 Tac+603 76659999 Cinfokieastincom fecebookcomieastinhatelkl  www.astincom
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f‘ Camayan Wharf, West llanin Forest Area,
~ N Subic Bay Freeport Zone, 2222

AA Phone: (047) 252 8000
n%ﬁmmrﬂym http://camayanbeachresort.com/
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CLUB BALAI

Isabel

make every day

i v

Taal Volcano up close and personal.
15 minutes drive from Tagaytay ridge.

Foringuiries & reservations, call:

895 7230 = 897 0229 = 043 728 0307 » 02 584 4068 =~ 0906 518 5494

) www.balalisabel.com

) ClubBaloilsabel
§ Banga, Talisay, Batangas

(@) clubbalaiisabel
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HOTELS & RESORTS

Call us.+63 (032) 418-8888 or 418-7777
locals 8000, 80001, 8002

www.crownregency.com

MAKATI » BORACAY = CEBU = DAVAO
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Mobile; 0917-522-4244 | Telephone: (047) 222-0249
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TOWER

Over 300 premium suites = The Theatre at Solaire
Innovative and vibrant dining eptions + Sky Range Café
The Patisserie = Oasis Garden Cafe
Waterside Restobar

| &sgan Avenus, Enfarairment Clty, Tambn, Bamnaoue City 1701 Phiilppines S O L A '[ R E

b aal SETT 1 -
Visst solssrercsort com or call (+637) BEE-BERHE _ﬂ' solaireresont AESORT & CASING®




travel.com

a

WWww.asla

FLIGHTS + HOTELS + TOUR PACKAGES
'FREE AND EASY
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THE VIJITT RESORT PHUKET

Is a romantic retreat where peace and tranquility
soothe the soul with breathtaking natural scenery all around,
providing a romantic stay in contemporary style private villas and
creatively designed activities you will never experience before

16 MOO 2. FRIENDSHIP BEACH.
VISET ROAD, RAWAL MUANG, PHUKLT 83130
TEL +66 (0) 76 363 600 | E-MAIL: RESERVATIOM@VIITTRESORT.COM
WWWAVIITTRESORT.COM | WWW.FACEROOK.COMAVI I TTRESOR]
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BANGKOK

HAMADA FLAZA BANGKOK MENAM RIVERSIDE
BANGKOK | THAILAND

A LITTLE SLICE OF SERENITY
IN BUSTLING CITY OF ANGELS

This muiti-award winning Thai contemporary
deluxe hotel is located on the easlern bank of
tha legendary Chao Phraya River. It is set on an
expansive 3.5 acres of land with an mpressive =
285 meta river frontage. The hotel provides LS ot
nagicenl panoransc views of e e and

=11 1]
fraw z
imposing views of Bangkok's skyline. l v m

LOCAL ATTRACTIONS
+ Asiaticgue The Riverfront » Temple of tha Dawn
* Grand Palace « Rattanakosin Istand

Ernguire Mare!

wak.rxnmjw:lmrtmmvsdq.:ﬂn
D infoBramadaplazamanamiveside.com 0]

imslelin WYNDHAM  RAMADA
2074 Charoankrung Hoad, Bangkok, 10120 Thailand =t —m— =— PLAZA
Tel: GO-02-G881000 / Fax: GO-02-2813400 SR AHTRIL S FUETRT
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NARAI HOTEL',"

The Marai Hotel commands an ideal location on Silom Road at the heart of Bangkok's most
important commercial and entertainment districts. In a luxurious ambience enhanced by axquisite
traditional Thai decor, you'll be treated to the warmest reception and hospitality.




MANOR HOTEL

Chiang Mai

5 slol boutigue design bolel panl of Smoall Lluxury Hotel of The
world with only 30 rooma, Chic urban resort concapt, deslgn flair,
conlomponary stylo footuling large doluxo room and suife. Unique
louation in the ol guarter of Chiong Moi's mosl hoppening hip
streal Nimmarmhaemin,




Fishermen's Harbour Urban Resort
SOUTH PATONG HAVEN

Pastel skiea. A hint of saa speey. Provale Totaces with views as vasl as the Andaman. Thia is Fishermen's Habour, Phoael’s newes) 5
sint utbian 1esorl Ten minubes” walk bom legendary Patong Beacly, ol 3800w resorl s an oass of relreshmen and sctivly wilhin easy
reach of the excting shoopping end rght enterteinment of nearby Patong. We hove creeted o haven awey from it ol A fresh take on the
Patuny Ilisﬁﬂll"ﬂ:. Enivy wonienwonsy diting. eabileiating sctiviles el unmelched comfol = ol sysinst (e bevubiow of the (urguise
Andadtian Sea

Comprehensive Facilities

From the chic swimming poots and Jecuzel 10 the lavishly dosigned Element Spa opening 2nd quarter 2017, the resort is a soif contained
refuge of recreation. Gother the family in the activity lounge, or let the children unwing in one of sevarel sge apprograte kids clubs while
Mum snd Dad hasd to the fitnaas Cantia

Thaoughtful Services
Fishnrman's Haroor is oslighthilly muitifacemesd - modem, styiisn and unaoninbly cosmopolitan. From ™a inrmam samnmbs 1 yodr
DVONING TEMOEAT! SErvics, ey Muancs of your oxperionce nas besn Thooghty srangnsd




Dew/A

HAlT YANG BEACH
PHUKET

A TRUE THALRE ‘* T'TH}\T HAS SOMETHING FOR EVERYONE
Welcome to our Dm&lﬂ Nai -"l’hng is perfectly placed, away from the crowds, on a quiet stretch of beach and
just a few steps away. F‘Qm the mnnm; and protected Sirinath Mational Park. Dewa features Pool Villas, Junior

7 Suites and Farrnl}r Suites, just a few mimtes from the airport

65 Mool T.Sakoo A.Thalang Phuket 83110 Tel, +66 76 372300 Fax.+66 76 372399
Email. reservation@dewaphuket.com Web: www.dewaphuketresort.com
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PHUKET ARCADIA
RESORT & SPA

Localed in the heart of Karon Beach and jusl a ehorl 10 minutes drive to famous Patong area.
Hilon Phukel Arcadin features B85 guaal rooms and suiles encompassing three winga.
All 1ogams have a large private balcony and a view of the glordous Andaman sea or the reson's lush Uepical
gardan. Tha reson offems a wide ranga of dining options inchssing B food & beverage faciitias with its very own
signature thal can accommodale any tasles of our guests. The resort = also home 1o the nest gpa in The megion
with an exclusive sanctuary feeling fealuring caplivating private villas and natural products.

33 Matek Rood, Karon Deach, Musng, Phuket, 83100, Thailand | TCL: #66-78-308433 | FAX: +08-70-300138
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MANDARIN HOTEL
since 1085

MODERN COMFORT HO

NATURAL VILLE

5 £

I'Cﬂ“.:::: v
e ferare . oturalville, com

Exotic and Luxurious in Bangkok. Thailand
NATURALVILLI Matueral Ville ofiers you hissrses Bing in U et of ihe aity, jusd lon minules wolli o B BTS Sybae, Wilh modcm, dkiganl, spocioun
C n B il aferen ol conioriobie opas T, Mot Vil 1 dosigned siound yous Slostyle with o fellp - geppod sy coamae, TRmess coarbe,
amiiming ped of pos Cutronicie |, Uhis voll-apisitod iesidoncy onjuys Maumed sty of eiboonsliosd slyic avd scrvice. Slorssing
whews strns Bangiok, COD day awd gl imahe 1 gesy o oo wivy Neleel Ville b o relioed selutn for iy g,

HATURAL VILLE EXECUTIVE RESIDEMCES
€1 Langsuan Road, Lumpini, Pathumwon, Bangliok, Thalland 10330 Tel: +68 2250 7000 | Fas: +88 22580 7034 | Emad: infofinoturalville.oom
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OLDEN TULIP MANDISON SUITES

SUKHUMVIT S0I 20

Golden Tulp Mandison Sutes ollers 103 ching suiss in a |5-stoney Building, e
hobed 8 0 relacng Dase Loc il -
elwion he Mana, Asoke and Phe oy 875 'S man ShiDoing af
irerest places and a8 wel &8 busne F ol I8 & metable sccommodation for
mdical tourism a5 weld as tho ] rungrind and Samitive)
Twa funcion rooms, ol o 4 I chnology and mesting ogupment, |t wil affer
lpetrn and COFpOrAtS QuireTE s i gl the holn
Difera guests a whole host of incliiea inc I ook, gym and in house restnurand serving
- "'N;Lq.t:il‘-u rangng from Thai ta Informationa 3
l W Tohelp you on amival, we also have A 1 pick up and drop off facility. Leisuee, busingss of
rimahant propose, Golden Tuln Mandson Sulles defights you af bastl -\“'--._.

TULIP

BouSgue lolsl By AnSSourn i The nesved! ond moll ponuior delor
popaty ot Bl Mmmon Dubict Criang Mol offadng bigars, modkem and refresing rooma which
ol e will o ey v Onl prhecte Bokounry, Ther wliey, aifonduise ond onchesd o sy
B N woltng cEoncs 10 Moo Liftelyio: Mol ond Nmman ngnilio JsincT. Port of na Note B ako
bafkiin Ristnn o Cofd whilch B focoeng on Thie and Weesen hdrmae-nooiing hasdos omanng
coffas o Mo creations wih fes el ool cosformes.

Cmor Hotel Chiang Mal by Andacur

Addrass; 2, Thorokomanakom 308 1, Changouwak Distact, Muang, Chiong Mal, Ted. =486 (03 53 400111
hiltpf fwwwcimaiholeloom




Buri Rasa Vittage Kok Phangan

find Do Roaa Vilope, Dipatenced fanguility ond e rofural beauty &f Koh Phongaon complimented &y
mandly DENCNOTED SACe IOl Wil MakE youl NolOoyY On SxDesnod 0 DE remembeiec.
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Eumi Farn i"mﬁ Ak Samar'u o trus ooss n the heart of Choweng. Hs enchanting "ty
traditional southem Thol dwolings sprood omidst a _C-au:lnn al Ednn_

find the echoos of halcyon dayl in this 5 star kecury hotel In'a parodise bland ‘of Koh Somul
Onco upon o fime hales of arisfocrocy escaping to retreats with o full comploment of servants
anvd services fo el fhak every need & reguinement,




Be sdventurous and axparsnce
a new atyle of resort and beach

club = The Privikege.

A Idonslic expeience awals
those seeking a lid back and
chill noliday on tha shnning
sland of Knh Samui

o > Z

CHUEAN MARINS
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Address § 31/3 Moo 2, Ao Neng beach, Musag, Krabi 111180, Thadand
'M.::mmnm -5 P, S v ) T3 0600 999 B il 2 imfubsyit smvaveehowbon, infus amavochonr] com Website $ s sow amyaveshoiclcom

Anyavee Aa Nang Bay Resort
i= overlooking Nopparat Thara Beach and
National Park in Krabi. only 200m from
the Andaman Sea and the tourist centre of
Ao Nang Beach. Hotel sccommuodation is
comprised of 67 comemporury Thai pavilions,
[rrusleed i oo lornemions cast-meeis-wesd
style, with spacious balconies. In-room
amenitics arc of the highest quality? air-
conditioning, hot shower, minihar, color
television, IDD wlephone service, refrigerator,
digital safe and tca and coffce making
facilities.
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Truong 5a Road, Ngu Hanh Son Dist, Danang, Vietnam
T: +84 511 3959 RAR E: reservations@namanretreal.oom  www.namanretreat.com

With Instant Confirmation
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www.aslatravel.com

REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors (the“Board” or the“Directors”) of Asiatravel.com Holdings Ltd (the“Company”) is committed
to setting and maintaining high standards of corporate governance to ensure greater corporate transparency,
accountability, performance and integrity, and at the same time, protect shareholders’ interest and maximize
long-term shareholder value.

This report describes the corporate governance framework and practice of the Company with specific reference to
the Code of Corporate Governance 2012 (the“Code”) and applicable to the Company. The Company has complied
with the principles of the Code where appropriate. Where there is any material deviation from any principle of
the Code, an explanation has been provided accordingly.

BOARD MATTERS
The Board'’s Conduct of Affairs

Principle 1: Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the
company. The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the
company. The Board works with Management to achieve this objective and
Management remains accountable to the Board.

The Board of the Company is primarily responsible for the protection and enhancement of long-term value and
returns for the shareholders and the overall management of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”).

The Board sets the overall business directions, provides guidance on the Group's strategic plans, with particular
attention paid to the growth and financial performance, and oversees the performance of Management.

Additionally, the Board is responsible for decision-making in respect of the following corporate actions:-

. To approve the broad policies, strategies and financial objectives of the Group and monitoring the
performance of management;

. To establish goals for Management and monitors the achievement of these goals;

. To provide entrepreneurial leadership, set strategic objectives and ensure that the necessary financial
and human resources are in place for the Company to meet its objectives;

. To identify the key stakeholder groups and recognize that their key perceptions which may affect the
Company'’s reputation;

. To oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, financial
reporting and compliance;

. To approve the nomination of Board Directors and appointment of key management personnel;

. To approve major funding proposals, investment and divestment proposals;

. To ensure that the Company meets good corporate governance standards; and

. To review the Company’s financial performance and determine the compensation of key management
personnel.
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To facilitate effective management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated by the Board to various
Board Committees, namely, the Audit Committee (“AC"), the Nominating Committee (“NC”) and the Remuneration
Committee (“RC"), each with its own terms of reference which are reviewed on a regular basis. The Board Committees
play an important role in ensuring good corporate governance in the Company and within the Group.

Despite delegating certain functions to the Board Committees, the Directors discharge their duties and
responsibilities at all times as fiduciaries in the interests of the Company.

Inline with the recent changes of the Companies Act, all references to the Memorandum and Articles of Association
will be superseded with Constitution and Regulation respectively.

The Board holds regular scheduled meetings to review the Group’s key activities, business strategies, funding
decisions, financial performance and to approve the release of the financial results of the Group. Ad-hoc meetings
are held when circumstances arise to address significant issues or transactions. The Company’s Constitution
allows meetings to be conducted by way of a telephone conference and/or by means of similar communication
equipment where all Directors participating in the meetings are able to hear each other. The Board also approves
transaction through circular resolutions which are circulated to the Board together with all relevant information
to the proposed transactions.

The Board meets at least four times each financial year, with optional meetings scheduled if there are matters
requiring the Board’s decision at the relevant times. During the financial year ended 30 September 2016 (“FY2016"),
the number of meetings held and attended by each member of the Board and Board Committees are set out as
follows:

NOMINATING REMUNERATION

TYPE OF MEETINGS BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE COMMITTEE COMMITTEE

No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of
Names Meetings | Meetings | Meetings | Meetings | Meetings | Meetings | Meetings | Meetings

Held |Attended| Held |Attended| Held |[Attended| Held |Attended
Boh Tuang Poh 4 4 4 4* 1 1 1 1*
Heng Su-Ling Mae 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Sheng Fagiang 4 - 4 - 1 - 1 -

* Attendance by invitation of the relevant Board Committees

The Board has adopted a set of internal guidelines setting forth matters that require the Board's approval.
Matters which are specifically reserved for the Board’s decision are those involving significant acquisitions,
disposals and funding proposals, reviewing and approving the Group’s corporate policies, monitoring
the performance of the Group and transactions relating to investment, funding, legal and corporate secretarial
matters.

Formal letters are issued to newly-appointed Directors upon their appointment, including details of their duties
and obligations as Directors. As part of the training of the Board, Directors are briefed either during Board and
Board Committees meetings or at specially convened sessions on the changes on regulations and accounting
standards, as well as industry related matters.

The Company encourages the Directors to update themselves on new rules and regulations that would assist them

in carrying out their roles. The Company will assist in arranging relevant course and seminars for the Directors’
training as and when necessary.
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Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to
exercise objective judgement on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from
Management and 10% shareholders. No individual or small group of individuals
should be allowed to dominate the Board'’s decision making.

The Board consists of four (4) Directors, three of whom are Non-Executive Directors of which two are Independent
Directors:-

Executive Director:
Boh Tuang Poh Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEOQ”)

Independent and Non-Executive Director:

Heng Su-Ling Mae Lead Independent Director
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold Independent Director
Sheng Fagiang Non-Executive Director

The profiles of the Directors are set out on page 4 of this Annual Report.

The Board as a group has core competencies in accounting and finance, management and strategic planning,
legal and industry knowledge.

The Board has reviewed its size and is satisfied that the current Board size and composition is appropriate, taking
into consideration the nature and scope of the business, as well as the current and future plans of the Group.

The Board comprises two (2) Independent Directors who represent more than one-third of the Board. The
Independent Directors have confirmed that they do not have any relationship with the Company and/or its related
corporations and/or its officers that would interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of
their independent business judgement, with a view to the best interests of the Company.

The NC reviews the independence of each Director annually, and as and when circumstances require. The NC
adopts the Code’s definition of what constitutes an Independent Director in its review and also considers any
other salient factors. During FY2016, the NC has reviewed and is of the view that the two (2) Independent Directors
are independent.

The Board is aware of Guideline 2.2 of the Code whereby Independent Directors should make up at least half
of the Board where the Chairman of the Board is part of the management team. The Board is satisfied that the
current Board composition has complied with the Guideline of the Code.

Inline with Guideline 2.4 of the Code, the Board and the NC had conducted a rigorous review on the independence
of the Independent Director, Mr Tan Kheng Lee Arnold, who has served the Board beyond 9 years since 2005. The
relevant factors that were taken into consideration in determining the independence of Mr.Tan Kheng Lee Arnold
are set out under Principle 4 on pages 57 to 59 of this Annual Report.

The Non-Executive Directors participated in and constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy
and review the performance of Management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting

of such performance.

The Non-Executive Directors meet amongst themselves without the presence of Management where necessary.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilites between the leadership of the
Board and the executive responsibility for managing the company'’s business. No
one individual should represent a considerable concentration of power.

Mr Boh Tuang Poh is the Executive Chairman and the CEO of the Company. Being the CEO and the most senior
executive in the Company, Mr Boh bears executive responsibility for the Group’s business on a day-to-day basis.

Mr Boh, as Executive Chairman, is responsible for the functions of the Board, ensures that Board Meetings are
held when necessary and sets the agenda of the Board Meetings in consultation with the other Directors and
Management. The Chairman also reviews the Board papers before presenting to the Board and ensures that the
Board members are provided with complete, adequate and timely information.

The Non-Executive Directors have demonstrated a high degree of commitment in their role as Directors and have
ensured that there is a good balance of power and authority in the Board. In this respect, the Board is of the view
that there is no need for the role of the Chairman and the CEO to be separated.

In order to ensure good corporate governance practice, the Company has appointed Ms Heng Su-Ling, Mae as
the Lead Independent Director. The Lead Independent Director will be available to the shareholders where they
have concerns which cannot be resolved through the normal channels of the Executive Chairman or the Chief
Financial Officer (“CFQ”"), or where such contact is not possible or inappropriate.

The Independent Directors, led by the Lead Independent Director, meet amongst themselves without the presence

of the other Directors where necessary and the Lead Independent Director will provide feedback to the Non-
Executive Chairman after such meetings.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Board Membership

Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-
appointment of directors to the Board.

The NC comprises the following four members, two of whom, including the Chairman, are Independent
Non-Executive Directors:-

Tan Kheng Lee Arnold Chairman
Heng Su-Ling Mae Member
Boh Tuang Poh Member
Sheng Fagiang Member

The NC is regulated by a set of written Terms of Reference and is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on all Board appointments and re-appointments through a formal and transparent process. In respect
of re-nominations, the NC will consider the individual Director’s contribution and performance and whether the
Director has adequate time and attention to devote to the Company, in the case of Directors with multiple board
representations.
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The responsibilities and principal functions of the NC, as set out in its Terms of Reference, include:-

(a) establishing procedures for and making recommendations to the Board on all Board appointments and
re-appointments;

(b) identifying gaps in the mix of skills, experiences and other qualities required in an effective Board and

nominate or recommend suitable candidate(s) to fill these gaps;

(c) reviewing re-nominations, having regard to the Director’s contribution and performance;
(d)

deciding whether a Director is able to carry out and has been adequate in carrying out his/her duties as
a Director, where he/she has multiple board representations;

(e) determining on an annual basis whether a Director is independent, based on the Code’s guidelines of
what constitutes an Independent Director;

(f) assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contributions by each individual Director
to the effectiveness of the Board, based on the procedures and objective performance criteria for the
evaluation of the Board’s performance established by the NC and approved by the Board;

(9) ensuring that all appointees to the Board undergo appropriate orientation programmes;

(h) providing training for the Directors and equipping the Directors with the necessary training to ensure
that the Directors can discharge their fiduciary duties in an efficient manner; and

(i) deliberating on the appointment and re-appointment of the Directors.

In determining the independence of the Directors, the NC requires all Directors to complete and return a
Confirmation of Independence on an annual basis and submitted to the NC for its review.

The NC reviews and assesses candidates for directorship before making recommendations to the Board. In
recommending new Directors to the Board, the NC takes into consideration the skills and experience and the
current composition of the Board, and strives to ensure that the Board has an appropriate balance of Independent
Directors as well as Directors with the right profile of expertise, skills, attributes and ability.

Directorships in other
Date of first | Date of last listed companies
appointment | re-election Past 3
Name of Director Appointment | as a Director | asa Director Current Years
Boh Tuang Poh Executive 1 December 30 January NIL NIL
Chairman 1999 2015
Heng Su-Ling Mae Lead 27 April 2012 | 29 January Apex Healthcare Berhad,| NIL
Independent 2016 Independent Director
Director
Ossia International
Limited,
Independent Director
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold | Independent | 24 January 28 January NIL NIL
Director 2005 2014
Sheng Fagiang Non-Executive |23 December |28 January Toread Holdings Group | NIL
Director 2013 2014 Co., Ltd,
Executive Director
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The NC has reviewed the contribution by each Director taking into account their listed company board
representations and other principal commitments. The NC and the Board are of the view that, setting a maximum
number of listed company board representations a Director may hold is not meaningful, as long as the Directors
are able to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company. As such, the Board does not propose
to set the maximum number of listed company board representations which Directors may hold until such need
arises. Notwithstanding the number of listed company board representations and other principal commitments
which some of the Directors are holding, the NC is of the view that sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company has been given by these Directors.

According to the Company’s Constitution, the NC has recommended that Mr. Sheng Fagiang be nominated for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM. The Board had accepted the NC's recommendation. Mr. Sheng Fagiang
has expressed to the Board that he will not be seeking re-election at the forthcoming AGM due to personal
commitments and the Board has noted his desire and would like to express their appreciation to Mr. Sheng
Fagiang for his past contribution to the Company. Upon Mr. Sheng Fagiang relinquishing his directorship in the
Company, he will cease to be the member of AC, NC and RC. The Company will appoint a new director to fill up
the vacancy as soon as possible and will announce the appointment accordingly.

In considering whether an independent director who has served on the Board beyond 9 years is stillindependent,
the Board has taken into consideration the factors including understanding of the Group’s business, challenges,
operations, risk and various compliance requirements of the Group, including constructive views being provided
to assist the Executive Chairman in managing the Group; his qualification and expertise provides an independent
checkand balances for Management as well as provides an overall guidance to Management and act as a safeguard
for the protection of the Company’s assets and shareholders’ interest.

In this regard, the NC with the concurrence of the Board, has reviewed the suitability of Mr. Tan Kheng Lee Arnold
being an independent director who has served on the Board for more than 9 years and has determined that Mr.
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold remains independent. He is not involved in the day to day operations of the Company and
is holding 840,000 shares which translated to 0.19% of the total shareholdings of the Company. He is abstained
from voting on any resolution in respect of his own appointment.

There is no alternate Director being appointed to the Board.

Key information about the Board members, including their principal commitments, are set out on page 58 of
this Annual Report.

BOARD PERFORMANCE

Principle 5: There should be a formal annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as
a whole and its Board Committees and the contribution by each director to the
effectiveness of the Board.

The NG, in considering the nomination of any Director for re-election, considers the contribution of the Director,
which includes his/her qualifications, experience, area of expertise, time and effort devoted to the Company’s
affairs, attendance and participation at the Board and Board Committees meetings.

The NC acknowledges the importance of a formal assessment of Board performance and has adopted a formal
system of evaluating Board performance as a whole. In assessing the Board’s performance as a whole, both
quantitative and qualitative criteria would be adopted, including return of equity, the success of strategic and
long-term objectives set by the Board, the effectiveness of the Board in monitoring Management’s performance
against the goals that have been set by the Board, attendance record at the Board and Board Committees meetings,
intensity of participation at meetings, the quality of interventions, managing risk and adversity, corporate integrity
and social responsibility, direction development and management and any special contributions.

The NC had adopted the evaluation form for assessing the effectiveness of the individual director and Board
Committees with effect from FY2016.
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An evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board, Board Committees and contribution by each Director is conducted
annually to identify areas of improvement and as a form of good Board management practice. The results of the
evaluation exercise were considered by the NC which then makes recommendations to the Board aimed at helping
the Board to discharge its duties more effectively.

The NC, having reviewed the overall performance of the Board, Board Committees and individual Director in terms
of its roles and responsibilities and the conduct of its affairs as a whole, is of the view that the performance of
the Board has been satisfactory and met its performance objectives for FY2016 despite the number of meetings
attended by Mr. Sheng Fagiang at the Board and Board Committees meetings held during FY2016. Mr. Sheng
Fagiang is aware of the Group's development and operations through the regular updates from the Management
and actively provide valuable advice to the Company in particular the Company’s new operations in China. No
external facilitator was used in the evaluation process.

Each member of the NC shall abstain from participating in the proceedings and making any recommendations
in respect of the assessment of his/her performance or re-nomination as Director.

The Board, based on the recommendations of the NC, has ensured that Directors appointed possess the
background, experience, knowledge and expertise critical to the Group’s business and each Director, through his
or her unique contributions, brings to the Board an independent and objective perspective to enable balanced
and well-considered decision to be made.

Access to Information

Principle 6: In order to fulfill their responsibilities, directors should be provided with complete,
adequate and timely information prior to board meetings and on an on-going
basis so as to enable them to make informed decisions to discharge their duties and
responsibilities.

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfill its responsibilities, Management circulates information and
reports for the Board'’s review and consideration within a reasonable period prior to the Board meetings and
as and when the need arises. Information and reports submitted to the Board are detailed, complete, adequate
and include background and justification for each proposal or mandate sought and updates on operational and
financial performance of the Group. The Board has separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management and Company Secretary at all times.

Should the Directors, whether as a group or individually, require independent professional advice concerning any
aspect of the Group's operations and undertakings in order to fulfill their duties and responsibilities as directors, a
professional advisor would be selected by the Company. Alternatively, an individual Director would be appointed
to render the advice. The cost of such professional advice will be borne by the Company.

The Company Secretary or her representative administers, attends and prepares minutes of all Board and Board
Committees meetings and is responsible for advising the Board on all governance matters, assists the Chairman
of the Board and/or the AC, RC and NC and ensuring that legal and regulatory requirements as well as Board
policies and procedures are complied with so that the Board and Board Committees functions effectively, and
the Company’s Constitution and relevant rules and regulations, including requirements of the Companies Act,
and SGX-ST. She also acts as the primary channel of communication between the Company and the SGX-ST.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to the approval of the Board as a whole.

60



ANNUAL REPORT 2016

REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Cont'd)

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual

directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The RC comprises the following three members, majority of whom, including the Chairman, are Independent
Non-Executive Directors:-

Heng Su-Ling Mae Chairman
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold Member
Sheng Fagiang Member

The objective of the RCis to provide a formal, transparent and objective procedure for fixing remuneration packages
of individual Directors and senior management to ensure that the level of remuneration paid by the Company
serves to attract, retain and motivate the employees needed to manage the Company and the Group effectively.

The RCis also responsible forimplementing and administering the Asiatravel.com Share Option Scheme 2011 and
Asiatravel.com Performance Share Plan (collectively the “Schemes”), which give recognition to the contributions
made by confirmed full-time employees and Directors.

The RCis regulated by a set of written Terms of Reference and its key functions include:-

(@) providing a formal, transparent and objective procedure and to make recommendations to the Board
with regard to the remuneration of Executive Directors and key management personnel and ascertaining
that they are fairly remunerated, to attract, retain and motivate the employees needed to manage the
Company effectively;

(b) formulating the framework of the remuneration for Directors and key management personnel, taking
into account comparability of standards within the industry and with other companies;

(c) ensuring that any performance-related element of remuneration should incorporate meaningful measures
of assessing the Company’s performance and the performance of the individual Executive Director and
the CEO; and

(d) implementing and administering the Schemes, and attending to any matters pertaining to the Schemes.

The RC meets at least once a year. In its deliberations, the RC takes into consideration the industry practices and
norms for remuneration packages. The RC has full authority to obtain independent professional advice on matters
relating to remunerations as and when the need arises at the Company’s expense.

No Director is involved in determining his/her own remuneration. All Non-Executive Directors are paid Directors’
fees annually on a standard fee basis.

Each member of the RC abstains from making any recommendation on or voting on any resolutions in respect
of his/her own remuneration package, except for providing information and documents specifically requested
by the RC to assist it in its deliberations.

The RCreviews the terms and conditions of service agreements of the CEO before their execution. In the course of
such review, the RC will consider the Group's obligations arising in the event of termination of Executive Directors
and key management personnel, to ensure that the service agreements contain fair and reasonable termination
clauses and are not overly generous so as to avoid rewarding poor performance.

None of the Non-Executive Directors is on a service contract with the Company.
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Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 8: Thelevel andstructure ofremuneration should be aligned with the long-term interest
and risk policies of the company, and should be appropriate to attract, retain and
motivate (a) the directors to provide good stewardship of the company, and (b) key
management personnel to successfully manage the company. However, companies
should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose.

The RC will determine the remuneration package for Executive Director based on the performance of the Group
and the Directors’ fees payable to the Non-Executive Directors, which will be based on effort, time spent and
responsibilities of each individual Director. Thereafter, the Directors’ fees are recommended to the Board for
recommendation to the shareholders for approval at the AGM.

The review of the remuneration of the executive officers takes into consideration the performance and the
contributions of the executive officer to the Company and gives due regard to the financial and business
performance of the Group of which performance conditions is not pre-determined. The Group seeks to offer
competitive level of remuneration to attract, motivate and retain senior management of the required competency
to run the Group successfully.

The Company does not use contractual provisions to allow the Group to reclaim incentive components of
remuneration from CEO and key management personnel in exceptional circumstances of misstatement of financial
results, or of misconduct resulting in financial loss to the Company. CEO owes a fiduciary duty to the Company.The
Company should be able to avail itself to remedies against the CEO in the event of such breach of fiduciary duties.

Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 9: Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and
mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s
Annual Report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies
to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors
and key management personnel, and performance.

The Company has adopted a remuneration policy for staff comprising a fixed component (in the form of a base
salary) and a variable component, which is in the form of a variable bonus that is linked to the Company’s and
the individual's performance. Another element of the variable component is the grant of share options to staff
under the Scheme.

A breakdown of the remuneration of the Directors and top five key management personnel (who are not Directors
or the CEO) for the financial year ended 30 September 2016 is appended below.

Number of Directors of the Company in remuneration/fee bands:

2016 2015
$$500,000 and above - -
$$250,000 to $$499,999 1 1
Below $$250,000 3 3

4
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Remuneration/fees of Directors for the financial year ended 30 September 2016

Name of Directors Salary Directors’ Fee Total
$$500,000 and above NIL NIL NIL
$$250,000 to S$499,999 100% NIL 100%
Boh Tuang Poh
Below $$250,000
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold NIL 100% 100%
Heng Su-Ling Mae NIL 100% 100%
Sheng Fagiang NIL 100% 100%
Aggregate Options | Aggregate Options Aggregate
granted since exercised since Options
Options commencement of | commencement of | outstanding
granted during the Scheme to the Scheme to as at end of
financial year end of financial end of financial financial year
Name of participant under review | year under review year under review | under review
Directors of the Company:
Boh Tuang Poh - - - -

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel in remuneration/fee bands:

2016 2015
$$500,000 and above - -
$$250,000 to $$499,999 2
Below $$250,000 - 2

2 2

For FY2016, the aggregate total remuneration paid to the key management personnel (who are not Directors or
the CEO) amounted to 5$543,643.

There were no terminations, retirement or post-employment benefits granted to Directors and key management
personnel other than the standard contractual notice period termination payment in lieu of service for FY2016.

Remuneration of Employees Related to Directors or Substantial Shareholders

There is one employee of the Group, Mr Boh Sui Hou, who is the son of Mr. Boh Tuang Poh, the Executive Chairman
and CEO of the Group whose remuneration exceeds $$50,000 during FY2016.

Details of remuneration paid to the immediate family member of Directors or substantial shareholders for FY2016
are set out below:

Name of Inmediate Family Member Salary Total

Above $$50,000 and Below $$250,000
Boh Sui Hou 100% 100%

Save for the above, the Company does not have any employee who is an immediate family member of a Director
or CEO whose annual remuneration exceeds $$50,000 during FY2016.
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In view of confidentiality, the Board is of the opinion that it is not in the best interests of the Company to disclose
the exact remuneration of the Directors and key management personnel due to the sensitive nature. Similarly,
the name and remuneration of the key management personnel (who are not directors of the Company) are not
disclosed due to the highly competitive markets the Company operates in, and the Company’s concern over
solicitation of key management personnel by the Company’s competitors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Accountability

Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the
company’s performance, position and prospects.

The Board through its timely release of the Group’s quarterly and full year results aims to provide shareholders
with a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects. The Board
also ensures timely and full disclosures of material corporate developments to shareholders.

Management is accountable to the Board by providing the Board with the necessary financial information for the
discharge of its duties. The Board is provided with the management accounts of the Group’s performance and
position on a quarterly and full year basis. These enable the Board to make a balanced and informed assessment
of the Group’s performance, position and prospects.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 11: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that
Management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to
safeguard shareholders’ interests and the company’s assets, and should determine
the nature and extent of the significant risks which the Board is willing to take in
achieving its strategic objectives.

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk of the Group and maintains a system of internal controls and
risk management to safeguard shareholders’interest and the Group’s assets. The Board notes that the system of
internal controls and risk management established by the Group provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
that the Group will not be adversely affected by any event that can be reasonably foreseen. Furthermore, the Board
also acknowledges that no system of internal controls and risk management can provide absolute assurance in
this regard, or absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgment in decision-making,
human errors, losses, fraud or other irregularities.

Risk

The Company regularly assesses and reviews the Group’s business and operational environment in order to identify
areas of significant business, financial, operational, information technology, legal and compliance risks, as well as
appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks.

The Board is satisfied with the risk management practice in FY2016 and that risks identified have been adequately
addressed by the Group.

Internal Control

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal auditors,
assurance from Management and reviews performed by the management team, the Board, with the concurrence
of the AC, is of the opinion that the Group's internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance and
information technology controls, and risk management systems, are adequate and effective to meet the needs of
the Group for the type and volume of businesses conducted in the current business environment.
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For FY2016, the Board has received assurance from the CEO and CFO that:-

(a) the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the Company’s operations and finances; and

(b) the Company maintains an effective risk management and internal control systems.
Audit Committee

Principle 12: The Boardshould establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which
clearly set out its authority and duties.

The AC comprises the following three members, majority of whom, including the Chairman, are Independent
Non-Executive Directors:-

Heng Su-Ling Mae Chairman
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold Member
Sheng Fagiang Member

The AC is chaired by Ms Heng Su-Ling Mae, who has over 16 years of experience in an audit, corporate finance
and business advisory environment with Messrs Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore. The other AC members have many
years of financial accounting, legal and business management experience. The AC is of view that its members
have the requisite financial management expertise and experience to discharge the AC's functions in accordance
with the Companies Act, Chapter 50, and its terms of reference.

The AC's scope of work is governed by written Terms of Reference. Specifically, the AC meets on a periodic basis
to perform the following functions:-

(a) to recommend to the Board the appointment or re-appointment and remuneration of the external
auditors of the Company;

(b) to review with the external and internal auditors their evaluation of the systems of internal accounting
controls and monitor Management's response and actions to address noted deficiencies;

(c) to review the Company’s quarterly and full year results announcements, the financial year statements of
the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group before submission to the Board for
approval of release of the results announcements to the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

(“SGX-ST");

(d) to monitor interested person transactions and conflict of interest situations that may arise within the
Group including any transaction, procedure or course of action that raises questions of Management
integrity;

(e) to evaluate the cost effectiveness, independence and objectivity of the external auditors and the nature

and extent of the non-audit services provided by them;

(f) to meet with the internal and external auditors, without the presence of the Company’s Management,
at least once annually;

(9) to review the internal audit programme and the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company'’s internal
audit function, as well as to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors and
Management;
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(h) to oversee design and implementation of the overall risk management systems and internal control
systems (including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls);

(i) to approve the hiring, removal, evaluation and compensation of the head of the internal audit function,
or the accounting, auditing firm or corporation to which the internal audit function is outsourced;

(j) to ensure that the internal audit function is staffed with persons with the relevant qualification and
experience and that they carry out their functions according to the standards set by nationally or
internationally recognized professional bodies, including the Standards for the Professional Practice of
Internal Auditing set by the Institute of Internal Auditors; and

(k) toreview the audit representation letters before consideration by the Board, giving particular consideration
to matters that related to non-standard issues.

The AC has full access to and co-operation from Management, has full discretion to invite any Director or key
management personnel to attend the meetings and has been given reasonable resources to discharge its'duties.

InJuly 2010, the Singapore Exchange Limited and Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority had launched
the“Guidance to Audit Committees on Evaluation of Quality of Work performed by External Auditors”which aims
to facilitate the ACin evaluating the external auditors. Accordingly, the AC had evaluated the performance of the
external auditors based on the key indicators of audit quality set out in the guidance.

The AC met up with the external auditors and internal auditors separately at least once a year without the presence
of Management, in order to have free and unfiltered access to information that it may require.

The aggregate amount of fees paid to the external auditors in FY2016 and a breakdown of the fees paid in respect
of audit and non-audit services are stated in the notes to the financial statements.

The ACis satisfied that the appointment of external auditors is in compliance with the requirements of Rule 712 of
the SGX-ST Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist (“Rules of Catalist”). Accordingly, the AC has recommended
that Messrs Ernst & Young LLP be nominated for re-appointment as external auditors of the Company at the
forthcoming AGM. In recommending the re-appointment of the external auditors, the AC considered the volume
of non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, and satisfied that the nature and extent of
such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors.

In accordance with the requirements of Rule 716 of the Rules of Catalist, the AC and the Board are satisfied that
the appointment of different auditors for certain of its subsidiaries would not compromise the standard and
effectiveness of the audit of the Group.

Changes to accounting standards and accounting issues which have a direct impact on the financial statements
were reported to the AC, and highlighted by the external auditor in their meetings with the AC. No former partner
or director of the Company’s existing auditing firm has acted as a member of the AC.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has implemented a whistleblowing policy, which serves to encourage and provide a channel to
employees to report in good faith and in confidence, without fear of reprisals, concerns about possible wrongdoing
orbreach of applicable laws, regulations, policies or other matters. The objective for such arrangement is to ensure
independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action. As at the date of this report,
there was no report received through the whistle blowing mechanism.
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Internal Audit

Principle 13: The company should establish an effective internal audit function that is adequately
resourced and independent of the activities it audits.

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining an internal audit function to provide an independent
assurance over the soundness of the system of internal controls within the Group to safeguard shareholders’
investments and the Company’s assets. The AC has the responsibility to review the adequacy of the internal
audit function annually, review the internal audit program and ensure co-ordination between internal auditors,
external auditors and Management, and ensure that the internal auditors meets or exceeds the standards set by
nationally or internationally recognized professional bodies. The AC also reviews and approves the hiring, removal
and evaluates its outsourced internal auditors.

The AC met up with the internal auditors separately at least once a year without the presence of Management.
The internal auditors is provided with unfettered access to the Group's properties, information and records for
performing their internal audit review.

The internal audit function of the Group has been outsourced to Wensen Consulting Asia (S) Pte. Ltd. and their
primary line of reporting are to the AC. The objective of the internal audit function is to provide an independent
review on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's internal controls and provide reasonable assurance to
the AC on the Group’s controls and governance processes. An annual internal audit plan which entails the review
of the effectiveness of the Group’s controls has been developed by the internal auditor. The ACis satisfied that the
internal audit function has been adequately resourced, staffed by suitably qualified and experienced professionals
with the relevant experiences and has the appropriate standing within the Group.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES
Shareholder Rights

Principle 14: Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognize,
protect andfacilitate the exercise of shareholders’ rights, and continually review and
update such governance arrangements.

All shareholders are treated fairly and equitably to facilitate their ownership rights. In line with the continuing
disclosure obligations of the Company pursuant to the Rules of Catalist and the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of
Singapore, the Board'’s policy is that all shareholders should be regularly informed in a comprehensive manner
and on a timely basis of all material developments that impact the Group.

Shareholders are informed of general meetings through the announcement released to the SGXNet and notices
contained in the Annual Report or circulars sent to all shareholders. These notices are also advertised in a national
newspaper. All shareholders are entitled to attend the general meetings and are provided the opportunity to
participate in the general meetings.

Shareholders can vote in person or appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote on their behalf at
general meetings of shareholders. There is no provision in the Company’s Constitution that limits the number of
proxies for nominees companies.

On 3 January 2016, the legislation was amended, among other things, to allow certain members defined as
“Relevant Intermediary”to attend and participate in general meetings without being constrained by the two-proxy
requirement. Relevant Intermediary includes corporations holding licenses in providing nominee and custodial
services and CPF Board which purchases shares on behalf of the CPF investors.
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Communication with Shareholders

Principle 15: Companies should actively engage their shareholders and put in place an investor
relations policy to promote regular, effective and fair communication with
shareholders.

The Board is mindful of its obligations to provide timely and fair disclosure of material information in line with the
Corporate Disclosure Policy to the SGX-ST.The Board’s policy is that all shareholders should be equally informed of all
major developments thatimpact the Group in a timely manner. Information provided to the shareholders include:-

(a) The Group's financial results and any other material information are released via SGXNet on a timely basis;
and
(b) Copies of the Annual Report, the Circular and the Notices of the AGM and/or Extraordinary General

Meeting, where applicable, are sent to every shareholder of the Company. The Notices of the general
meetings are also published in the newspapers and announced via SGXNet.

The Company’s website at www.asiatravel.com at which our shareholders can access financial information,
corporate announcements, press releases, Annual Reports and profile of the Group.

By supplying shareholders with reliable and timely information, the Company is able to strengthen the relationship
with its shareholders based on trust and accessibility. The Company has a team of investor relations (“IR”) personnel
who focus on facilitating the communications with all stakeholders, shareholders, analysts and media - on a
regular basis, to attend to their queries or concerns as well as to keep the investors public apprised of the Group’s
corporate developments and financial performance.

The Company does not practice selective disclosure. Price sensitive information is first publicly released through
SGXNet, before the Company meets with any investors or analysts. All shareholders of the Company will receive
the Annual Report with an accompanying notice of AGM by post. The notice of AGM is also published in the
newspaper within the mandatory period, the AGM of which is to be held within four months after the close of
the financial year.

The Company does not have a formal dividend policy. The form, frequency and amount of dividends will depend
on the Group’s earnings, financial position, results or operations, capital needs, plans for expansion, and other
factors as the Board may deem appropriate. As the Company has not made profits for FY2016, dividends were
not declared or paid for FY2016 in order to conserve cash and to ensure that there are adequate resources for
the Company’s business.

Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

Principle 16: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at general meetings
of shareholders, and allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views
on various matters affecting the company.

The shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s general meetings to ensure a high level of accountability
and to stay informed of the Group’s strategies and growth plans. At AGMs, shareholders are given opportunity
to express their views and make enquires regarding the operations of the Group. The Board, the various Board
Committees and management team are present at these meetings to address any questions that shareholders may
have concerning the Company.The external auditors are also present to answer any relevant shareholders’queries.
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The Company maintains separate resolutions at general meetings on each substantially separate issue and
agrees to the Code’s recommendation that companies avoid ‘bundling’ resolutions unless the resolutions are
interdependent and linked so as to form one significant proposal. Each item of special business included in the
notice of meetings will be accompanied by the relevant explanatory notes. This is to enable the shareholders
to understand the nature and effect of the proposed resolutions. The Company will make available minutes of
general meetings to shareholders upon their request.

Resolutions are put to vote by poll and the detailed results of each resolution are announced via SGXNet after the
general meetings. The Company will adopt the electronic polling voting system if necessary.

DEALING IN SECURITIES

In compliance with Rule 1204(19) of the Rules of Catalist, the Company has adopted a Code of Best Practices to
provide guidance to its officers on securities transactions by the Company and its officers.

The Company and its officers are not allowed to deal in the Company’s shares during the period commencing
two weeks before the announcement of the Company’s financial results for each of the first three quarters of its
financial year, and one month before the announcement of the Company’s full year financial results, and ending
on the date of the announcement of the relevant results.

Directors and executives are also expected to observe insider trading laws at all times even when dealing
with securities within permitted trading periods or when they are in possession of unpublished price sensitive
information and they are not to deal in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company has established procedures to ensure all transactions with interested persons are reported in a
timely manner to the AC and those transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis and are not prejudicial
to the interest of the shareholders.

Pursuant to Rule 907 of the Rules of Catalist, the aggregate value of all interested person transactions during
the financial year under review (excluding transactions less than $$100,000 and transactions conducted under
shareholders’ mandate pursuant to Rule 920 of the Rules of Catalist) are as follows:-

Aggregate value of all interested
person transactions during Aggregate value of all interested
the financial year under review person transactions conducted
(excluding transactions less during the financial year under
than $100,000 and transactions review under shareholders’ mandate|
conducted under shareholders’ pursuant to Rule 920 (excluding
Name of Interested Person mandate pursuant to Rule 920) transactions less than $100,000)
NA NIL NIL

The Company does not have any shareholders’ mandate for interested person transactions.

All interested person transactions are subject to review by the Board and the AC.
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in the financial statements, there were no material contracts were entered into between the
Company and any of its subsidiaries, involving the interests of any Directors or controlling shareholders, which

are either subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 30 September 2016 or, if not then subsisting, entered
into since then end of the previous financial year.

CATALIST SPONSOR

The Company is currently under the SGX-ST Catalist sponsor supervised regime. The continuing sponsor of the
Company is RHT Capital Pte. Ltd. who was appointed on 1 October 2012.

For the purpose of Rule 1204(21) of the Rules of Catalist, there was no non-sponsor fee paid to RHT Capital Pte.
Ltd. for the financial year ended 30 September 2016.
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

The directors present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements
of Asiatravel.com Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the balance
sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 30 September 2016.

OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS

In the opinion of the directors,

(i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheets and statement of changes
in equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group and of the Company as at 30 September 2016 and the financial performance, changes in equity
and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to
pay its debts as and when they fall due.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Boh Tuang Poh

Heng Su-Ling Mae
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold
Sheng Fagiang

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Exceptas disclosed in this report, neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a
party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’INTEREST IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’
shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, an interest
in shares and share options of the Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries)
as stated below:

Direct interest Deemed interest
At beginning At end At beginning At end
of the of the of the of the

Name of Directors financial year | financial year | financial year | financial year
The Company
Asiatravel.com Holdings Ltd
- Ordinary shares
Boh Tuang Poh - - 20,535,426 19,595,426
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold 840,000 840,000 - -
Sheng Fagiang - - 60,000,000 60,000,000

73



|‘=I HOTELS Xrusms a Things To Do h TOUR PACKAGES

»
www.aslatravel.com

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT (Cont'd)

DIRECTORS'INTEREST IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Cont'd)

Direct interest Deemed interest
At beginning At beginning
of the financial At end of the financial Atend

year/Date of |of the financial| year/Date of |of the financial
Name of Directors appointment year appointment year
The Company
Asiatravel.com Holdings Ltd
- Warrants to subscribe for

ordinary shares

Warrants expired on 15 July 2016
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold 105,000 - - -

On 16 January 2013, 59,731,708 warrants in issue comprised 29,865,854 warrants in Tranche 1 and 29,865,854
warrants in Tranche 2 to the Group's shareholders. Each warrant confers upon the warrant holder the right to
subscribe in cash, one new share at an exercise price of $0.245 for Tranche 1 and $0.273 for Tranche 2.

Tranche 1 warrants have expired on 17 July 2014 and Tranche 2 warrants have expired on 15 July 2016.

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests between the end of the financial year and
21 October 2016.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares,
share options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the
financial year, or at the end of the financial year.

SHARE PLANS

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for administering the Asiatravel.com Share Option Scheme (the
“Scheme”).

During the financial year, members of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:
Heng Su-Ling Mae (Chairman)

Tan Kheng Lee Arnold

Sheng Fagiang

Asiatravel.com Share Option Scheme

The Asiatravel.com Share Option Scheme 2011 (“2011 Scheme”), was approved at the Annual General Meeting
held on 28 January 2011.The 2011 Scheme is administered by the Remuneration Committee.

Atthe end of the financial year, share options granted pursuant to the 2011 Scheme in respect of unissued ordinary
shares of the Company to the following classes of executives are as follows:

2016 2015
Class of Executives
Executive Directors - -
Other Executives 300,000 300,000
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Performance Share Plan

Another incentive plan, the Asiatravel.com performance Share Plan (“Share Plan”), was also approved at the
Annual General Meeting held on 28 January 2011.The Share Plan is administered by the Remuneration Committee.

During the financial year, no performance shares were granted under the Share Plan.

Options granted under the 2011 Scheme to full-time executive employees and directors of the Group are subject
to an option period of up to ten years, such period commencing from the date of grant and expiring on the day
immediately preceding, up to the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. The options are exercisable on the first
anniversary of the date of grant. At the end of the financial year, there were 300,000 unissued ordinary shares of
the Company under options as follows:

Options Options
Balance at exercised | cancelled | Balance
beginning | Options | during the | during the| atend |Subscription| Expiry

Date of grant of the year | granted year year of the year price date
Options granted under
the 2011 Scheme
15 April
16 April 2013 300,000 - - - 300,000 $0.205 2018

During the financial year, there were 300,000 unissued shares of the Company under options.

Subsequent to end of the financial year and up to the date of this report, no option has been exercised.

Statutory and other information regarding the Options:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Subscription Price per share shall be determined by the Remuneration Committee at its absolute
discretion and fixed by the Remuneration Committee, at a price not exceeding 20% discount on the
market value of the shares based on the average of the last dealt price of the share for the five market
days prior to the date of grant, as quoted and shown on the daily Financial News published by the SGX-
ST, or its nominal value, whichever is higher.

Eligible grantees who participate in the Scheme may also be eligible to participate in other share option
schemesimplemented by the Company or by the Company’s subsidiaries if under the rules of that scheme,
he is eligible to participate in it.

The total number of shares to be issued by the Company in respect of which options are granted under
the 2011 Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total issued share capital of the Company from time to
time.

The offer of an option to an eligible grantee, if not accepted by him within 30 days from the date of such

offer, will lapse. Upon acceptance of the offer, the eligible grantee to whom the option is granted shall
pay to the Company a consideration of $1.
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SHARE PLANS (Cont’d)
Except for shares available for issue under the 2011 Scheme as disclosed above,
(i) during the financial year, there were :

(a) no options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries to any person to take up unissued shares
in the Company or its subsidiaries;

(b) no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of options to take up unissued shares in the Company
or its subsidiaries; and

(ii) as at the end of the financial year, there were no other unissued shares in the Company or its subsidiaries
under option.

Since the commencement of the employee share option plans till the end of the financial year:

. No option has been granted to the controlling shareholders of the Company and their associates

. No participant has received 5% or more of the total options available under the plans

. No option has been granted to directors and employees of the holding company and its subsidiaries

. No option that entitles the holder to participate, by virtue of the options, in any share issue of any other

corporation has been granted

. No option has been granted at a discount

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three board members, all of whom are independent, non-executive directors.
The members of the Audit Committee during the financial year and at the date of this report are:

Heng Su-Ling Mae (Chairman)
Tan Kheng Lee Arnold
Sheng Fagiang

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings since the last Directors’ Report and performed the functions specified in
the Singapore Companies Act. The Audit Committee may examine whatever aspects it deems appropriate of the
Group’s financial affairs, its internal and external audits and its exposure to risks of a regulatory or legal nature. It
keeps under review the effectiveness of the Company and the Group’s system of accounting and internal financial
controls, for which the directors are responsible. It also keeps under review the Company’s programme to monitor
compliance with its legal, requlatory and contractual obligations.

In performing its functions, the Audit Committee reviewed the overall scope of both internal and external audits
and the assistance given by the Company'’s officers to the auditors. The Committee met with the internal and
external auditors to discuss the results of their respective examinations and their evaluation of the Company and
the Group's system of accounting and internal financial controls. The Audit Committee also reviewed the financial
statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended
30 September 2016 as well as the external auditor’s report thereon.
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The Audit Committee, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditor to the Group, is
satisfied that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditor.
The Audit Committee has also conducted a review of interested person transactions. In addition, the Audit
Committee has met with internal and external auditors, without the presence of the Company’s management,
at least once a year.

The Audit Committee has full access to and co-operation by the Company’s management and the internal
auditor and has full discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The auditors
have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee has reasonable resources to enable it to
discharge its functions properly.

The Audit Committee recommends to the Board of Directors the nomination of Ernst & Young LLP as external
auditor at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Further details regarding the Audit Committee are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP has expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditor.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Boh Tuang Poh
Director

Heng Su-Ling Mae
Director

Singapore

28 December 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ASIATRAVEL.COM
HOLDINGS LTD

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Asiatravel.com Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to 147 which comprise the balance sheets of the Group
and the Company as at 30 September 2016, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company
and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash
flow statement of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide
a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true
and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ASIATRAVEL.COM
HOLDINGS LTD (Cont'd)

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes
in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the
Company as at 30 September 2016 and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the
Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those

subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

28 December 2016
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BALANCE SHEETS

As at 30 September 2016
Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 4,882 5,932 144 297
Intangible assets 5 7,746 8,132 4,317 3,908
Investment in subsidiaries 6 - - 6,541 8,732
Other investments 7 85 85 - -
Deferred tax assets 8 5 5 - -

12,718 14,154 11,002 12,937
Current assets
Inventories 9 4,205 4,996 - 65
Trade receivables 10 10,763 10,835 1,195 308
Prepaid operating expenses 1,920 2,003 180 564
Other receivables 11 7,887 2,148 5,308 94
Amounts due from subsidiaries 12 - - 17,957 13,967
Amounts due from other related parties| 13 - 7 - -
Fixed deposits and cash pledged 14 2,066 2,974 1,906 2,730
Cash and cash equivalents 14 3,932 6,074 1,844 3,262

30,773 29,037 28,390 20,990
Current liabilities
Trade payables 15 5,255 3,494 - -
Deferred income 16 4,380 4,782 260 250
Other payables 15 7,836 5,549 2,123 1,597
Amounts due to subsidiaries 17 - - 15,519 12,666
Obligations under finance leases 18 966 917 33 32
Income tax payable 24 38 - -

18,461 14,780 17,935 14,545
Net current assets 12,312 14,257 10,455 6,445
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As at 30 September 2016
Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
Note $'000 $’000 $'000 $'000
Non-current liabilities
Obligations under finance leases 18 673 1,639 132 165
Deferred tax liabilities 8 3 3 - -
676 1,642 132 165
Net assets 24,354 26,769 21,325 19,217
Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Share capital 19(a) 64,061 56,105 64,061 56,105
Treasury shares 19(b) (4,133) (3,124) (4,133) (3,124)
Accumulated losses 20(a) (36,739) (28,792) (38,617) (33,777)
Share-based compensation reserve 20(b) 14 13 14 13
Foreign currency translation reserve 20(c) (1,537) (1,008) - -
Capital reserve 20(d) 1,372 1,372 — -

23,038 24,566 21,325 19,217
Non-controlling interests 1,316 2,203 - -
Total equity 24,354 26,769 21,325 19,217

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

2016 2015
Note $’000 $’000

Revenue
Sale of services 21 97,654 88,182
Other items of income
Other income 22 5,273 1,504

102,927 89,686
Items of expenses
Changes in inventories 23 (84,865) (73,741)
Amortisation of intangible assets 5 (1,361) (1,314)
Salaries and employee benefits 27 (10,717) (10,197)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 (1,031) (929)
Other operating expenses 23 (13,525) (14,549)
Finance costs 23 (228) (183)
Loss before tax 23 (8,800) (11,227)
Income tax expenses 24 (34) (288)
Loss net of tax (8,834) (11,515)
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (7,947) (10,816)
Non-controlling interests (887) (699)

(8,834) (11,515)
Loss per share attributable to owners of the Company
(cents per share)

- Basic 25 (2.30) (3.28)
- Diluted 25 (2.30) (3.28)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

Loss net of tax

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Translation of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

2016 2015
$’000 $’000
(8,834) (11,515)
(529) 1,409
(9,363) (10,106)
(8,476) (9,406)
(887) (700)
(9,363) (10,106)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

2016 2015
Note $'000 $’000
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax and non-controlling interests (8,800) (11,227)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 1,031 929
Amortisation of intangible assets 5 1,361 1,314
Interest expense 23 228 183
Interest income (8) (15)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 21 4
Inventories written down 9 9 -
Bad debts written off 10 15 190
Share based compensation 20(b) 1 4
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 4 402 -
Impairment of intangible assets 5 535 -
Exchange loss - unrealised 23 138 703
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital (5,067) (7,915)
Changes in working capital
Decrease in inventories 633 1,149
Increase in receivables and prepaid operating expenses (5,699) (2,025)
Increase in payables and deferred income 3,548 1,545
Increase in net amounts due to related parties 7 -
Cash used in operations (6,578) (7,246)
Interest paid (228) (183)
Interest received 8 15
Income tax paid (38) (48)
Translation adjustment (165) (28)
Net cash flows used in operating activities (7,001) (7,490)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4 (420) (464)
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment - 6
Addition to intangible assets 5 (1,619) (1,458)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (2,039) (1,916)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of obligations under finance leases (917) (914)
Purchase of treasury shares 19(b) (1,009) -
Proceeds from issuance of new shares, net of expenses 19(a) 7,956 9,575
Capital injection from non-controlling interests - 614
Proceeds from re-financing of motor vehicle - 1,800
Decrease/(increase) in fixed deposits and cash pledged 14 908 (1,124)
Net cash flows generated from financing activities 6,938 9,951
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,102) 545
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (40) 29
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 6,074 5,500
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14 3,932 6,074

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016
CORPORATE INFORMATION

Asiatravel.com Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled
in Singapore. The Company is listed on the Catalist of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(“SGX-ST").

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 615 Lorong 4 Toa Payoh,
#01-01, Singapore 319516.

The principal activities of the Company are that of an investment holding company, sale of tour packages,
provision of internet hotel reservation and other promotion services. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 6.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in
equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards

(“FRS").

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the
accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars (SGD or $) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (5$000), except when otherwise indicated.

Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the
current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards that are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2015. The adoption of these standards did not have any
effect on the financial performance of the Group or position of the Group and the Company.

Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not adopted the following standards that have been issued but not yet effective:

Effective for

annual periods

beginning

Description on or after
Amendments to FRS 7: Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2017
Amendments to FRS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 1 January 2017
FRS 109 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018
FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018
FRS 116 Leases 1 January 2019
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Standards issued but not yet effective (Cont’d)

Except for FRS 109, FRS 115 and FRS 116, the directors expect that the adoption of other standards
above will have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application. The
nature of the impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of FRS 109, FRS 115 and FRS 116
are described below.

FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

FRS 115 establishes a five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers.
Under FRS 115, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration which an entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in FRS 115
provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognising revenue when the promised goods
and services are transferred to the customer i.e. when performance obligations are satisfied.

Key issues for the Group include identifying performance obligations, accounting for contract
modifications, applying the constraint to variable consideration, evaluating significant financing
components, measuring progress toward satisfaction of a performance obligation, recognising contract
cost assets and addressing disclosure requirements.

Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact of FRS 115 and
plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date.

FRS 109 Financial Instruments

FRS 109 introduces new requirements for classification and measurement of financial assets, impairment
of financial assets and hedge accounting. Financial assets are classified according to their contractual cash
flow characteristics and the business model under which they are held. The impairment requirements
in FRS 109 are based on an expected credit loss model and replace the FRS 39 incurred loss model.
Adopting the expected credit losses requirements will require the Group to make changes to its current
systems and processes.

FRS 109 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early application
permitted. Retrospective application is required, but comparative information is not compulsory. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of FRS 109 and plans to adopt the standard on the required
effective date.

FRS 116 Leases

FRS 116 requires lessees to recognise most leases on balance sheets to reflect the rights to use the leased
assets and the associated obligations for lease payments as well as the corresponding interest expense
and depreciation charges. The standard includes two recognition exemption for lessees - leases of ‘low
value’ assets and short- term leases. The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of the new standard and plans to adopt the new standard
on the required effective date.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(a)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same
reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions
and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in
a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

- De-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their
carrying amounts at the date when control is lost;

- De-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;

- De-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
- Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

- Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

- Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;

- Re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Basis of consolidation and business combinations (Cont’d)

(b)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods
in which the costs are incurred and the services are received.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration
which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in profit or loss.

The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in
the acquiree (if any) is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets in the event of liquidation, is
recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required
by another FRS.

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business
combination, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value
of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The accounting policy
for goodwill is set out in Note 2.8(a). In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former,
the excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date.

Goodwillis initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
acquiree are assigned to those units.

The cash-generating units to which goodwill have been allocated is tested for impairment
annually and whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired.
Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.

Transactions with non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
owners of the Company.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Foreign currency

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is also the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

(a) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the
Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies
at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary
items at the end of the reporting period are recognised in the profit or loss.

(b) Consolidated financial statements

For consolidation purpose, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into
SGD at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period and their profit or loss
are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange
differences arising on the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal
of aforeign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition,
property, plantand equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated

impairment losses.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Years
Computers - 3-5
Furniture and fittings - 3-10
Office equipment - 3-10
Renovation - 5
Motor vehicles - 5-17

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end and
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic

benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included
in the profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwillis initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

The cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated is tested forimpairment annually
and whenever thereis an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment
is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unitis less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the
profitor loss. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that
cash-generating unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal
of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative
fair values of the operations disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operation on or after 1
January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the
functional currency of the foreign operations and translated in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in Note 2.6.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments which arose on acquisitions of foreign operation before 1
January 2005 are deemed to be assets and liabilities of the company and are recorded in SGD
at the rates prevailing at the date of acquisition.

Other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. Following initial acquisition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development
costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the year in which
expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method,
as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense
on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the profit or loss in the expense category
consistent with the function of the intangible asset.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.8 Intangible assets (Cont'd)

(b)

Other intangible assets (Cont'd)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested forimpairment
annually, or more frequently if the events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets
are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the useful life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

(i) Website development and software costs

Website development and software costs are substantially internally developed and
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Website development and software costs incurred in the enhancement of existing
website, development of booking engines such as tour packages and air ticketing
software and other software related costs are capitalised.

Website development and software costs comprise any directly attributable costs of
development activities which include payroll costs, costs of services consumed and
other direct costs. Expenditure for additions and improvements are capitalised and

expenditure for maintenance are recognised in the profit or loss.

Amortisation of website development and software costs is computed on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

(ii) Club membership
Club membership relates to golf membership which has indefinite life.
(iii) Contractual and legal rights over audio-visual materials

The Group has contractual rights to utilise 6,849 (2015: 6,849) hours of audio-visual
materials. This is in relation to promotional activities that can be utilised by the Group.
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For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

Intangible assets (Cont'd)

Other intangible assets (Cont'd)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Contractual and legal rights over audio-visual materials (Cont'd)

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s intangible assets is as follows:

Contractual and
legal rights over Website
audio visual development and
materials Club membership | software costs
Internally generated | Acquired Acquired Internally
or acquired developed
Useful lives and - Finite - Indefinite « Finite
amortisation » Amortised over « No amortisation |+ Amortised over
method used remaining 20 years 3-5yearson
on a straight line straight line basis
basis
Impairment testing | Annually and more | Annually Annually for assets
frequently when not yet in use and
an indication of more frequently
impairment exists when an indication
of impairment
exists
Review of Amortisation Useful life reviewed | Amortisation
Amortisation Period | period and basis are| at each financial period and basis
and Method reviewed at each year-end are reviewed at
financial year-end each financial
year-end

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group
makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cashinflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying
amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are
previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case
the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous
revaluation.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont'd)
A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the
case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss

been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in the profit or loss unless the asset is measured
at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to

affect those returns through its power over the investee.

In the Company'’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less any impairment losses.

Financial instruments

(a) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of

its financial assets at initial recognition.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case
of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

(i) Loans and receivables
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit

or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the
amortisation process.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets (Cont’d)
Subsequent measurement (Cont’d)
(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets
The Group classifies its other investments as available-for-sale financial assets.

Available-for-sale financial assets include equity and debt securities. Equity investments
classified as available-for-sale are those, which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are
those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be
sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured
at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial asset are
recognised in other comprehensive income, except that impairment losses, foreign
exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the
effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised.

Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are
measured at cost less impairment loss.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the
asset has expired. On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between
the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in the profit or loss.
Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of

its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(b)

Financial liabilities (Cont'd)
Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset is impaired.

(a)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

Forfinancial assets carried atamortised cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence
of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively
forfinancial assets that are notindividually significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or
not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristic and
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment
and for which animpairment loss is, or continues to be recognised are notincluded in a collective
assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is
reduced directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged
to the allowance account are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset.

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has
been incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant
financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

Ifin a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does
not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in the
profit or loss.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

(b)

(c)

Financial assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment
where the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the
issuer) that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.

Available-for-sale financial assets

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence of impairment
include (i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor, (ii) information about significant
changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment in which the issuer operates, and indicates that the cost of the investment
in equity instrument may not be recovered; and (iii) a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the investment below its costs. ‘Significant’is to be evaluated against the original
cost of investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been below
its original cost.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between
its acquisition cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value,
less any impairment loss previously recognised in the profit or loss, is transferred from other
comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment loss in respect of
equity instruments are not recognised in profit or loss; increase in their fair value afterimpairment
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand and demand deposits that are readily
convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories comprise admission
tickets to various tourist attractions, airtime spots and hotel/resort room nights. Cost is determined on
a first-in-first out basis.

Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the
carrying value of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, after making allowance
for damaged tickets and expiration of these tickets and room nights.
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Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the
obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are
discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a
finance cost.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when
the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and
borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed
for theirintended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Employee benefits
(a) Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countriesin
which it has operations. In particular, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions
to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme.
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related service is performed.

(b) Employee share option plans

Employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share options as consideration
for services rendered. The cost of these equity-settled share based payment transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the options at the date on which the share
options are granted which takes into account market conditions and non-vesting conditions. This
costisrecognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in the share-based compensation
reserve, over the vesting period. The cumulative expense recognised at each reporting date until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best
estimate of the number of options that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss
for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period and is recognised in “salaries and employee benefits” expense.

No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vested irrespective
of whether or not the market condition or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all
other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. In the case where the option does
not vest as the result of a failure to meet a non-vesting condition that is within the control of
the Group or the employee, it is accounted for as a cancellation. In such case, the amount of
compensation cost that otherwise would be recognised over the remainder of the vesting period
is recognised immediately in profit or loss upon cancellation. The share-based compensation
reserve is transferred to retained earnings upon expiry of the share option.
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For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Leases
As lessee
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to
the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction
of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged to profit or loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the
periods in which they are incurred.
Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and
the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of
the lease term.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of
rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. Revenue is measured
at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms
of payment and excluding taxes or duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it
is acting as principal or agent and records its revenue accordingly.
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:
(a) Internet hotel reservation service
Revenue from the provision of internet hotel reservation services is recognised once the
reservations are fulfilled and no refund is made. Revenue from such services which is collected
in advance of the fulfillment is deferred and reflected as deferred income.

(b) Sale of attraction tickets, transportation and tour packages

Revenue from the sale of attraction tickets, transportation and tour packages is recognised
as follows:

(i) attraction tickets — upon the booking of the attraction tickets as no refund is made;
(ii) transportation — upon completion of the transportation services; and
(iii) tour packages — upon completion of the tour package services.

(c) Sale of air tickets

Sale of air tickets are stated after deducting its cost. It is recognised upon booking of air tickets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Revenue (Cont’d)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Taxes

(a)

(b)

Commission income

Revenue from commission income relates to the provision of internet hotel reservation services,
and is recognised once the reservations are fulfilled.

Promotion service

Revenue from the provision of promotion services is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Annual website membership fees

Revenue from membership fees from hotels participating in the website membership scheme
is recognised based on the period of membership during the financial year. Revenue from such
services that is collected in advance of the services being rendered, is deferred and reflected
as deferred income.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates
to items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end
of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

. Where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or

of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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2.20 Taxes (Cont'd)

104

(b)

()

Deferred tax (Cont’d)

. Inrespect of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

. Where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. Inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated with investment in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent thatitis probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or

loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination

is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

. Where the sales tax incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from
the taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

. Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included
as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
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Segment reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products
and services which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the
performance of the respective segments under their charge. These segment managers report directly
to the management of the Company who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate
resources to the segments and to assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of
these segments are presented in Note 29, including factors used to identify the reportable segments
and the measurement basis of segment information.

Share capital and share issuance expenses

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

Treasury shares

The Group’s own equity instruments, which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and

deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or

cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount of

treasury shares and the consideration received, if reissued, is recognised directly in equity. Voting rights

related to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them respectively.

Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

. It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation; or

. The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group.
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for

contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair
values can be reliably determined.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could resultin outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods.

Judgment made in applying accounting policies

Inthe process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgment,
apart from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements:

(a) Income taxes

The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is
involved in determining the Group-wide provision forincome taxes. There are certain transactions
and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The carrying amount
of the Group'sincome tax payable, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at 30 September
2016 was $24,000, $5,000 and $3,000 respectively (2015: $38,000, $5,000 and $3,000 respectively).

(b) Determination of functional currency

The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies of
the Company and its subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the entities in the
Group, judgment is required to determine the currency that mainly influences sales prices for
goods and services of the country whose competitive forces and regulations mainly determines
the sales prices of its goods and services. The functional currencies of the entities in the Group
are determined based on management’s assessment of the economic environment in which the
entities operate and the entities’ process of determining sales prices.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
each reporting period are discussed below.The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about
future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the
control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

Impairment of intangible assets

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The
fair value less costs to sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions
in an arm’s length transactions of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing the asset. The value in use calculations are based on a discounted cash flow
model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next four years and do not include
restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments
that will enhance the asset’s performance of the cash generating unit being tested. The
recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow
model as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation
purposes. Further details of the key assumptions applied in the impairment assessment of
intangible assets, are disclosed in Note 5.

Impairment of loans and receivables

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence
thatafinancial asset isimpaired.To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment,
the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties
of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows
are estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics.
The carrying amount of the Group's loans and receivables at the end of the reporting period is
disclosed in Note 31.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and
equipment to be within 3 - 17 years. The carrying amount of the Group's property, plant and
equipment at 30 September 2016 was $4,882,000 (2015: $5,932,000). Changes in the expected
level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives of these
assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

Useful lives of intangible assets
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

The cost of website development and software and the contractual and legal rights over
audio-visual materials are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Management estimates the useful lives of these website development and software costs to
be within 3 to 5 years and the contractual and legal rights over audio-visual materials to be 20
years. The carrying amount of the Group’s website development and software costs and the
contractual and legal rights over audio-visual materials at 30 September 2016 was $4,384,000
(2015: $4,000,000) and $2,241,000 (2015: $2,473,000) respectively. Changes in the expected
level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives of these
assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

The useful lives of club membership have been determined to be indefinite.
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For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture
and Office Motor
Computers| fittings |equipment|Renovation| vehicles Total

Group $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000 $’000 $’000
Cost
At 1 October 2014 1,833 578 415 350 7,632 10,808
Additions 135 37 105 34 153 464
Disposals (16) (32) (27) - (13) (88)
Exchange differences 19 17 16 8 10 70
At 30 September 2015

and 1 October 2015 1,971 600 509 392 7,782 11,254
Additions 214 128 58 4 16 420
Disposals (2) M - - (28) (31)
Exchange differences (21) (12) (11) (6) (8) (58)
At 30 September 2016 2,162 715 556 390 7,762 11,585
Accumulated

depreciation and

impairment loss
At 1 October 2014 1,510 350 293 242 2,023 4,418
Charge for the year 156 90 59 43 581 929
Disposals (15) (30) (25) - (8) (78)
Exchange differences 15 14 11 5 8 53
At 30 September 2015

and 1 October 2015 1,666 424 338 290 2,604 5322
Charge for the year 175 98 62 44 652 1,031
Disposals (1) M - - (8) (10)
Impairment loss - - - - 402 402
Exchange differences (16) (8) (8) (5) (5) (42)
At 30 September 2016 1,824 513 392 329 3,645 6,703
Net carrying amount
At 30 September 2015 305 176 171 102 5,178 5,932
At 30 September 2016 338 202 164 61 4,117 4,882
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Furniture
and Office Motor
Computers| fittings |equipment|Renovation| vehicles Total

Company $'000 $'000 $'000 $’000 $’000 $'000
Cost
At 1 October 2014 705 319 98 119 320 1,561
Additions - 8 36 - - 44
At 30 September 2015

and 1 October 2015 705 327 134 119 320 1,605
Additions - 2 2 - - 4
At 30 September 2016 705 329 136 119 320 1,609
Accumulated

depreciation
At 1 October 2014 693 175 68 73 133 1,142
Charge for the year 10 56 19 17 64 166
At 30 September 2015

and 1 October 2015 703 231 87 90 197 1,308
Charge for the year 1 57 17 18 64 157
At 30 September 2016 704 288 104 108 261 1,465
Net carrying amount
At 30 September 2015 2 96 47 29 123 297
At 30 September 2016 1 41 32 11 59 144

Assets held under finance leases

As at 30 September, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment of the Group and Company
held under finance leases were:

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Motor vehicles held under
finance lease 3,822 5,137 59 123

Leased assets are held as security for the related finance lease liabilities (Note 18).

Impairment of assets

During the financial year, the Group recognised a netimpairment loss of $402,000 (2015: $Nil) in the“Other
operating expenses” line item in profit or loss. The impairment loss recognised during the financial year
was mainly in relation to the motor vehicles which were unutilised or under-utilised.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Contractual
and legal Website
rights over development
audio-visual Club and software
Goodwill materials membership costs Total

Group $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cost
At 1 October 2014 1,609 2,298 44 9,689 13,640
Additions - - - 1,458 1,458
Exchange differences - 298 6 3 307
At 30 September 2015

and 1 October 2015 1,609 2,596 50 11,150 15,405
Additions - - - 1,619 1,619
Exchange differences - (104) (2) 4 (102)
At 30 September 2016 1,609 2,492 48 12,773 16,922
Accumulated

amortisation and

impairment loss
At 1 October 2014 - - - 5,958 5,958
Amortisation - 123 - 1,191 1,314
Exchange differences - - - 1 1
At 30 September 2015

and 1 October 2015 - 123 - 7,150 7,273
Amortisation - 126 - 1,235 1,361
Impairment loss 535 - - - 535
Exchange differences - - - 7 7
At 30 September 2016 535 249 - 8,392 9,176
Net carrying amount
At 30 September 2015 1,609 2,473 50 4,000 8,132
At 30 September 2016 1,074 2,243 48 4,381 7,746
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5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

Website development
and software costs

Company $'000
Cost

At 1 October 2014 8,830
Additions — internal development 1,413
At 30 September 2015 and 1 October 2015 10,243
Additions — internal development 1,619
At 30 September 2016 11,862

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 October 2014 5,179
Amortisation 1,156
At 30 September 2015 and 1 October 2015 6,335
Amortisation 1,210
At 30 September 2016 7,545

Net carrying amount
At 30 September 2015 3,908

At 30 September 2016 4,317

Website development and software costs

Website development costs were incurred to develop and enhance the website to provide information of
the products and services of the Group to customers where they can procure these services on the website.

Software costs refer to costs incurred to develop and enhance the applications used to facilitate booking
processes, management of customers’ data and management of intelligence support and reporting.

As at balance sheet date, website development and software costs have a remaining amortisation period
of between 1-5 years (2015: 1-5 years).

Amortisation expense

The amortisation of website development and software costs and audio-visual materials is shown as a
separate line item in the consolidated income statement. Club membership is not amortised as it has
indefinite life.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill arising from business combinations has been allocated to three individual cash-generating
units (“CGU") for impairment testing as follows:

- Hotel Promotion Service segment

- Hotel Reservation segment
- Travel Services segment
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For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Cont’d)

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each CGU are as follows:

Hotel
Promotion
Service Hotel Reservation| Travel Services
Group segment segment segment Total

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Goodwill 421 555 453 453 200 601 1,074 1,609

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculations using
cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by management covering a period of four years.
The pre-tax discount rate applied to these cash flow projections and the forecasted growth rates used
to extrapolate the cash flow projections beyond the four years period are as follows:

Hotel
Promotion
Service Hotel Reservation| Travel Services
segment segment segment
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
Growth rate 6-10% 1% 30% 1% 3-6% 0-3%
Pre-tax discount rate 13.3% | 141% | 12.8% | 12.8% 15% 15%

112




ANNUAL REPORT 2016

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Cont’d)

The calculations of value in use for the CGUs are most sensitive to the following assumptions:

. Budgeted gross margins — Gross margins are based on average values achieved in the year
immediately preceding the start of the budget period and adjusted for anticipated efficiency
improvements.

. Growth rates — The forecasted growth rates are based on published industry research and do

not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the industries relevant to the CGUs.

. Pre-tax discount rate - Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific
to each CGU.This is the benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and
to evaluate future investment proposals. In determining appropriate discount rates for each CGU,
regard has been given to the yield on a five-year government bond issued in year 2016.

During the financial year, an impairment loss was recognised to write-down goodwill attributable to the
hotel promotion service segment and travel services segment. The impairment loss of $535,000 (2015:

nil) has been recognised in profit or loss under the line item “other operating expenses”.

Impairment testing and amortisation of contractual and legal rights over audio-visual materials

The Group has assessed the recoverable amount of contractual and legal rights over audio-visual
materials based on its cash-generating unit’s fair value less cost to sell, estimated based on selling price
of comparative audio-visual materials. No impairment is recorded as the estimated fair value less cost to
sell amount exceeds its carrying amount as at 30 September 2016 and 2015.

As at 30 September 2016, contractual and legal rights over audio-visual materials have a remaining
amortisation period of 18 years (2015: 19 years).

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2016 2015
$’000 $’000
Shares, at cost 10,419 10,419
Impairment losses (3,878) (1,687)
6,541 8,732
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6. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

a. Composition of the Group

114

The details of the subsidiaries are:

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

Proportion
of ownership
Country of interest
Name of Company incorporation | Principal activities
2016 | 2015
% %
Held by the Company
AT Reservation Network Singapore Provision of internet hotel 100 100
Pte Ltd ™ reservation service, website
membership and sale of
tour packages
S.H.Tours Pte. Ltd. Singapore Provision of tours and 100 100
transportation packages
OV International Pte. Ltd.® | Singapore Dormant 100 100
AT Express Pte. Ltd. @ Singapore Provision of wholesale hotel 50 50
reservation service
(2) H (12) (12)
Freeneasy Travel Pte. Ltd. Singapore Provision of internet hotel 50 50
reservation service, sale of
tour packages
Star-Travel.com Limited © The British Dormant 100 100
Virgin Islands
Precise Reform Limited The British Dormant 100 100
Virgin Islands
Open Gate Developments | The British Dormant 100 -
Limited ©-(3) Virgin Islands
Held through AT
Reservation Network
Pte Ltd
AT Network Co., Ltd. @19 Thailand Provision of internet hotel 100 100
reservation service, website
membership and sale of
tour packages
AT Phil., Inc. @000 Philippines Provision of internet hotel 100 100
reservation service, website
membership and sale of
tour packages
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6. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

a.

Composition of the Group (Cont'd)

Proportion
of ownership
Country of interest
Name of Company incorporation | Principal activities
2016 | 2015
% %
Held through AT
Reservation Network
Pte Ltd (cont'd)
Asia Travel Network Hong Kong Provision of internet hotel 100 100
Limited ®- (10 reservation service, website
membership and sale of
tour packages
PT Asia Travelindo Indonesia Dormant 100 100
Nusantara ©
Asia Middle East Tours & United Arab Provision of internet hotel 100 100
Travel (L.L.C.) © (10 Emirates reservation service, website
membership and sale of
tour packages
AT-Chinese (HK) Limited ® | Hong Kong Provision of internet hotel 100 100
reservation service, website
membership and sale of
tour packages
Asiatravel (International) India Dormant 100 100
Private Limited ©-(10.a1
Asiatravel Online Sdn. Malaysia Provision of internet hotel 100 100
Bhd. @00 reservation service and sale
of tour packages
Subsidiary company held
by AT Phil,, Inc.
Islander Exclusive Express Philippines Dormant 70 70
Tours, Travel and
Transportation, Inc. ©
Subsidiaries held by AT
Express Pte Ltd
AT Express India Ltd. © (" India Dormant 65 65
AT Express Reservation India Provision of tour and 100 100
Private Limited ©- (") transportation packages
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INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

a.

Composition of the Group (Cont'd)

M Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore

@ Audited by Lee SF & Co. Certified Public Accountants, Singapore

& Audited by Grant Thornton Limited, Thailand

@ Audited by KPMG Manabat Sanagustin & Co., Philippines

® Audited by Willis Cheng & Company, Hong Kong

©  Audited by Gulf Accountancy & Audit Centre, Al Abdooli & Co, United Arab Emirates

@ Audited by SL Ling & Co., Malaysia

®  Audited by Ahuja Arun & Co., Chartered Accountants, New Delhi

© Exempted from audit in the country of incorporation

(19 Certain shares are held in trust by third parties

(W Different year end with the Group

(2 The Group's beneficial interest is 50% plus 1 share and certain shares are held in trust by an employee
(3 During the year, the Group acquired the sole share in Open Gate Developments Limited for USD 1.

Impairment testing of investment in subsidiaries

During the financial year, management performed an impairment test for the investment in AT
Express Pte. Ltd. and Freeneasy Travel Pte. Ltd. as these subsidiaries had been making losses. An
impairment loss of $2,191,000 (2015: $270,000) was recognise for the year ended 30 September
2016 to write down these subsidiaries to their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amounts of
the investments in AT Express Pte. Ltd. and Freeneasy Travel Pte. Ltd. are determined based on
its value in use. Refer to Note 5 for the discount rates used in the current estimate and previous
estimate of value in use.

The Company has 50% voting power in AT Express Pte. Ltd. The investment in AT Express Pte.
Ltd. is accounted for as investment in subsidiaries as the Company has contractual rights to
appoint majority board members.

Interest in subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest (NCI)

The Group has the following subsidiaries that have NCI that are material to the Group.

Proportion Loss Accumulated
of ownership | allocated to NCI at the
interest NCI during end of
Principal held by non- | the reporting | reporting
place of controlling period period
Name of Subsidiary business interest $'000 $'000
30 September 2016:
AT Express Pte. Ltd. Singapore 50% (324) 272
Freeneasy Travel Pte. Ltd. Singapore 50% (563) 1,064
30 September 2015:
AT Express Pte. Ltd. Singapore 50% (496) 595
Freeneasy Travel Pte. Ltd. Singapore 50% (285) 1,627
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6. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)
c Summarised financial information about subsidiaries with material NCI
Summarised financial information including goodwill on acquisition and consolidation
adjustments but before intercompany eliminations of subsidiaries with material non-controlling

interests are as follows:

Summarised balance sheets

Freeneasy Travel
AT Express Pte. Ltd. Pte. Ltd.
2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current
Assets 3,203 3,728 5,991 5,841
Liabilities (2,704) (2,624) (3,933) (2,674)
Net current assets 499 1,104 2,058 3,167
Non-current
Assets 61 136 70 88
Liabilities (17) (49) - -
Net non-current assets 44 87 70 88
Net assets 543 1,191 2,128 3,255
Summarised statements of comprehensive income
Freeneasy Travel
AT Express Pte. Ltd. Pte. Ltd.
2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $'000 $’000 $’000
Revenue 8,726 8,479 21,205 17,878
Loss before income tax (648) (993) (1,126) (571)
Loss after tax (648) (993) (1,126) (571)
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive income (648) (993) (1,126) (571)
Other summarised information
Freeneasy Travel
AT Express Pte. Ltd. Pte. Ltd.
2016 2015 2016 2015
$’000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Net cash flow (used in)/generated
from operations (70) 71 (57) (1,146)
Acquisition of significant property,
plant and equipment - (2) (14) 4)
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7. OTHER INVESTMENTS

Group
2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Non-current:
Available-for-sale financial assets
- Unquoted equity shares 85 85
8.  DEFERRED TAX
Deferred tax relates to the following:
Group
Consolidated Balance | Consolidated Income
Sheet Statement

2016 2015 2016 2015

$’000 $'000 $’000 $’000
Deferred tax assets
Excess Minimum Corporate Income Tax (“MCIT")
recoverable - - - 76
General provisions 5 5 - 148

5 5
Deferred tax liabilities
Differences in depreciation for tax purposes - - - (2)
Other deferred liabilities (3) (3) - 2
(3) (3)

Deferred tax credit - 224

CIT

With effect from 30 September 2004, a Philippines subsidiary company is subject to the MCIT wherein it
is required to pay 2% of its gross income or the normal income tax on its net income, whichever is higher.
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DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Group Company

2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Temporary differences for which no

deferred tax asset is recognised:

- Unutilised tax losses 12,836 9,768 7,711 6,763
- Unabsorbed capital allowances 1,056 1,094 559 553
-MCIT 136 119 - .
14,028 10,981 8,720 7,316

The unabsorbed capital allowances, unutilised tax losses and MCIT mentioned above are available for
off-set against future taxable profits of the companies from which these unabsorbed capital allowances,
unutilised losses and MCIT arose. No deferred tax asset is recognised due to the uncertainty of its
recoverability. The use of these unabsorbed capital allowances, unutilised tax losses and MCIT are subject
to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation of
the respective countries in which the companies operate.

As of 30 September 2016, the composition of the MCIT for which deferred tax asset is not recognised
amounted to $136,000 (2015: $119,000) is as follows:

Year incurred Expiry date mcT
$'000
2014 30 September 2017 39
2015 30 September 2018 44
2016 30 September 2019 53
136

MCIT will expire 3 years subsequent to the year in which it was incurred. MCIT that has expired during
the year amounts to $34,000 (2015: $8,000).

Unrecognised temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries

At the end of the reporting period, no deferred tax liability (2015: Nil) has been recognised for taxes that
would be payable on the undistributed earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries as the Group has

determined that the undistributed earnings of its subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

Such temporary differences for which no deferred tax liability has been recognised aggregate to $Nil
(2015: $Nil). The deferred tax liability is estimated to be approximately $SNil (2015: $Nil).
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For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

9. INVENTORIES

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $’000 $'000 $'000
Inventories, at cost
Hotel/resort room nights 3,998 4,677 - -
Admission tickets 207 254 - -
Airtime spots - 65 - 65
4,205 4,996 - 65
Inventories written down - Hotel/resort
room nights 9 - - -
10. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days'terms. They are recognised

at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $000 $’000 $'000
Trade receivables - nominal amounts 10,763 10,835 1,195 308

Receivables that are impaired

The Group's trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and the movement of
the allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

Group
Collectively impaired
2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 October - 12
Written off during the year - (12)
At 30 September - -
Bad debts written off directly to income statement 15 190

Trade receivables are individually determined to be impaired when the debtors are in significant financial
difficulties and have defaulted on payments. There are no trade receivables (2015: Nil) that have been
individually determined to be impaired at the balance sheet date.
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10. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont'd)

As at 30 September, the trade receivables of the Group and the Company are denominated in the
following currencies:

Group Company

2016 2015 2016 2015

$'000 $'000 $’000 $’000
Singapore Dollar 4,240 4,423 851 219
Chinese Yuan 5,467 5,723 - -
Hong Kong Dollar 120 171 - -
United States Dollar 348 119 330 81
Others 588 399 14 8
10,763 10,835 1,195 308

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

The Group and the Company have trade receivables amounting to $8,163,000 (2015: $6,403,000) and
$272,000 (2015: $24,000) respectively that are past due at the end of the reporting period but not
impaired. These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their aging at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $’000 $'000 $’000
Trade receivables past due but not
impaired:
Less than 30 days 1,270 758 73 -
30 to 60 days 1,398 1,237 26 5
61-90 days 1,548 3,583 133
91-120 days 598 750 40 12
More than 120 days 3,349 75 - -
8,163 6,403 272 24
11. OTHERRECEIVABLES
Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$’000 $’000 $’000 $'000
Deposits 2,220 1,864 63 61
Staff advances 31 47 - -
Other debtors 5,636 237 5,245 33
7,887 2,148 5,308 94

The staff advances are non-interest bearing, unsecured, repayable on demand and are to be settled in cash.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016
OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

As at 30 September 2016, the other receivables for the Group and the Company are denominated in the
following currencies:

Group Company

2016 2015 2016 2015

$'000 $'000 $’000 $’000
Singapore Dollar 6,369 802 5,308 94
Hong Kong Dollar 244 264 - -
United Arab Emirates Dirham 359 381 - -
Philippine Peso 179 183 - -
India Rupee 2 2 - -
Thai Baht 678 476 - -
Others 56 40 - -

7,887 2,148 5,308 94

AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts are non-trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and are
expected to be settled in cash.

These balances mainly relate to management fees due, and hosting and domain fees paid on behalf of
these companies.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM OTHER RELATED PARTIES

The amounts are trade related, unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and are expected
to be settled in cash.

CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS

Cash and short-term deposits included in the consolidated cash flow statement comprise the following:

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $’000 $'000 $'000
Cash at bank and on hand representing
cash and cash equivalents 3,932 6,074 1,844 3,262
Fixed deposits and cash pledged 2,066 2,974 1,906 2,730
Cash and short-term deposits 5,998 9,048 3,750 5,992




ANNUAL REPORT 2016

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016
14. CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS (Cont’d)

Cash and short-term deposits are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Singapore Dollar 2,524 3,351 2,064 2,226
United States Dollar 1,302 2,627 1,223 2,489
Hong Kong Dollar 298 889 180 211
Philippine Peso 1,213 891 202 649
Thai Baht 433 629 25 78
Malaysian Ringgit 108 78 - -
Indian Rupee 45 38 - -
United Arab Emirates Dirham 43 456 24 250
Others 32 89 32 89
5,998 9,048 3,750 5,992

The fixed deposits bear interest rates ranging from 0.12% to 0.90% (2015: 0.10% to 0.75%) per annum and
mature within the next twelve months. Fixed deposits are made for varying periods of between 3 and 6
months. The fixed deposits and cash pledged were made to banks for banking facilities.

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 30 - 90 days terms.

As at 30 September, the trade payables of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

Group
2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Singapore Dollar 1,629 1,026
United States Dollar 546 456
Thai Baht 1,804 941
Hong Kong Dollar 125 152
Malaysia Ringgit 219 241
Philippine Peso 476 284
United Arab Emirates Dirham 329 336
Others 127 58
5,255 3,494
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15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d)

Other payables

Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 1-3 months.

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$’000 $’000 $'000 $'000
Accruals 4,868 3,953 732 500
Amount payable for the purchase
of admission tickets and room
entitlements 414 596 414 597
Other creditors 2,554 1,000 977 500
7,836 5,549 2,123 1,597

As at 30 September, the other payables for the Group and the Company are denominated in the following

currencies:
Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Singapore Dollar 6,208 4,167 1,866 1,267
Chinese Yuan - 27 - 27
Hong Kong Dollar 26 47 - -
Philippine Peso 393 325 - -
United States Dollar 299 300 257 256
United Arab Emirates Dirham 679 489 - -
Others 231 194 - 47
7,836 5,549 2,123 1,597

16. DEFERRED INCOME

Deferred income relates to revenue collected in advance of its fulfillment of services.

17. AMOUNTS DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts are non-trade related, unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and are to
be settled in cash.

These balances mainly relate to trade receipts collected on behalf of subsidiaries.
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OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

The Group entered into hire purchase arrangement for the purchase of certain motor vehicles. These
obligations are secured by a charge over the leased assets (Note 4). The effective interest rates implicit
in the leases of the Group and Company are 4.26% to 8.66% (2015: 4.26% to 8.66%) per annum. These
obligations are denominated in the respective functional currencies of the relevant entities in the Group.

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases together with the present value of the net minimum

lease payments are as follows:

2016 2015
Present Present
Minimum | valueof | Minimum | value of
payments | payments | payments | payments
$’000 $’000 $’000 $'000
Group
Within one year 1,061 966 1,092 917
After one year but not more than five years 707 673 1,768 1,639
Total minimum lease payments 1,768 1,639 2,860 2,556
Less: Amount representing finance charges (129) - (304) -
Present value of minimum lease payments 1,639 1,639 2,556 2,556
Company
Within one year 40 33 40 32
After one year but not more than five years 142 132 182 165
Total minimum lease payments 182 165 222 197
Less: Amount representing finance charges (17) - (25) -
Present value of minimum lease payments 165 165 197 197
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

(a)

(b)

Share capital
Group and Company
2016 2015
No. of shares No. of shares

‘000 $'000 ‘000 $'000
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid:
At 1 October 350,577 56,105 310,577 46,530
Exercised warrants 1 3 - -
Issuance of new shares 41,500 7,953 40,000 9,575
At 30 September 392,088 64,061 350,577 56,105

As of 30 September 2016, there are no warrants in issue. Tranche 2 warrants expired on 15 July

2016.

On 7 June 2016, the Company has allotted and issued an aggregate of 41,500,000 new ordinary
shares in the capital of the Company to ZhongHong New World International Limited at the
issue price of $0.20 per Subscription Share, for an aggregate amount of $8,300,000 excluding

expenses of $347,000.

The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as and
when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction.

The ordinary shares have no par value.

Treasury shares

Group and Company

2016 2015
No. of shares No. of shares
‘000 $’000 ‘000 $’000
At 1 October (10,646) (3,124) (10,646) (3,124)
Acquired during the financial year (5,911) (1,009) - -
At 30 September (16,557) (4,133) (10,646) (3,124)

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are held by the Company.

The Company acquired 5,911,400 (2015: Nil) shares in the Company through purchases on
the Singapore Exchange during the financial year. The total amount paid to acquire the shares
was $1,009,000 (2015: Nil) and this was presented as a component within shareholders’ equity.
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20. OTHERRESERVES

(a) Accumulated losses

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At 1 October (28,792) (17,976) (33,777) (25,487)
Loss for the year (7,947) (10,816) (4,840) (8,290)
At 30 September (36,739) (28,792) (38,617) (33,777)

(b) Share-based compensation reserve

Share-based compensation reserve represents the equity-settled share options granted to
employees (Note 27). The reserve is made up of the cumulative value of services received from
employees recorded over the vesting period commencing from the grant date of equity-settled
share options, and is reduced by the expiry or exercise of the share options.

Group and Company

2016 2015

$'000 $'000
At 1 October 13 9
Grant of equity-settled share options 1 4
At 30 September 14 13

(c) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are
different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.

Group
2016 2015
$'000 $’000
At 1 October (1,008) (2,418)
Translation of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries (529) 1,410
At 30 September (1,537) (1,008)

(d) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the excess of book value of non-controlling interests acquired in prior
years over its cash consideration.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

SALE OF SERVICES
Group

2016 2015

$'000 $'000
Sale of hotel/resort rooms 69,752 60,947
Sale of attraction tickets, transportation and tour packages 25,564 23,413
Commission income 344 960
Sale of air tickets 1,179 1,735
Promotion service 808 1,086
Annual website membership fees 7 41
97,654 88,182

OTHER INCOME
Group

2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Government grant & claim 624 403
Tour operator incentive 360 379
Credit card rebate 158 137
Unredeemed admission tickets 2 -
Promotion fee 134 116
Service fee 3,519 -
Sundry income 468 454
Interest income from loans and receivables 8 15
5,273 1,504
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23. LOSS BEFORETAX

Loss before tax included the following for the financial years ended 30 September:

Group
2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Changes in inventories:
Hotel/resort rooms 63,953 54,865
Attraction tickets, transportation and tour packages 20,759 18,623
Promotion service 153 253
84,865 73,741
Finance costs:
Interest expense on obligations under finance leases 228 183
Items in other operating expenses include:
Service fee to principal agents of subsidiary companies 2,927 3,240
Consultancy and professional fees 577 463
Directors’fees
- Non-Executive Directors of the Company 78 78
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 21 4
E.com and credit card charges 1,501 1,538
Advertisements and promotion fees 2,752 3,651
Upkeep of motor vehicles 759 653
Internet charges 144 163
Office and photocopier rental expenses 1,056 1,031
Telecommunications 214 206
Bad trade debts written off (Note 10) 15 190
Inventories written down (Note 9) 9 -
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 4) 402 -
Impairment of intangible assets (Note 5) 535 -
Exchange gain - realised (464) (172)
Exchange loss — unrealised 138 703
Audit fees:
- Auditor of the Company 161 167
- Other auditors 57 57
Non-audit fees:
- Auditor of the Company 8 9
- Other auditors 7 10
Total audit and non-audit fees 233 243
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24, INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Major components of tax expense

Group

2016 2015

$'000 $'000
Consolidated Income statement:
Current income tax
- Overseas 34 62
Under provision in respect of previous years - 2

34 64

Deferred income tax
- Origination and reversal of temporary differences - 224
Income tax expense recognised in income statement 34 288

Relationship between tax expense and accounting loss

The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting loss multiplied by the applicable
corporate tax rate for the years ended 30 September 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

Group
2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Loss before tax (8,800) (11,227)
Tax benefit calculated at corporate tax rate of 17% (1,496) (1,908)
Adjustments:
Non-deductible expenses 810 940
Income not subject to taxation (115) (101)
Expired MCIT (Note 8) 34 8
Effect of different tax rates in other countries (97) (3)
Deferred tax asset not recognised 898 1,296
Under provision in respect of previous years - 2
Benefits from previously unrecognised deferred tax assets - 59
Others - (5)
Income tax expense recognised in income statement 34 288
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LOSSES PER SHARE

Basic losses per share amounts are calculated by dividing loss for the year, net of tax, attributable to owners
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Diluted losses per share amounts are calculated by dividing loss for the year, net of tax, attributable to
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion

of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The following table reflects the loss and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted losses

per share for the years ended 30 September:

Group
2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Loss net of tax attributable to owners of the Company used in the
computation of basic and dilutive losses per share (7,947) (10,816)
Group
2016 2015
‘000 ‘000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic losses per share
computation 345,029 329,755
Effect of dilution:
- Share options * - -
- Warrants * - -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted losses per
share computation 345,029 329,755

* 300,000 (2015: 300,000) share options have not been included in the calculation of diluted losses per share because

they are anti-dilutive.

Since the end of the financial year, the number of unexercised share options amounted to 300,000 (2015:

300,000) shares.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating lease commitments - as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases for properties and tour desks. These leases expire on various
dates till December 2017 and contain provisions for rental adjustments. There are no restrictions placed
upon the Group or the Company by entering into these leases. Minimum lease payments recognised
as an expense in the income statement for the financial year ended 30 September 2016 amounted to
$1,056,000 (2015: $1,031,000).

Future minimum rental payable under non-cancellable operating leases at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

Group
2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Within one year 880 891
After one year but not more than five years 279 780
1,159 1,671

SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Salaries and employee benefits included the following for the financial years ended 30 September:

Group

2016 2015

$'000 $'000
Directors’ remuneration
Salaries and other emoluments
- Directors of the Company 352 291
- Directors of subsidiaries 306 369
Defined contributions
- Directors of the Company 8
- Directors of subsidiaries 12 15
Other employees
Defined contributions 813 786
Salaries and bonus 8,170 7,642
Other personnel expenses 1,056 1,085

10,717 10,197

Asiatravel.com Share Option Scheme 2011 (“2011 Scheme”)

Under 2011 Scheme, full time employees, including all executive and non-executive directors, are granted
non-transferrable options. Options are granted for terms of 10 years to purchase Asiatravel.com Holdings
Ltd’s ordinary shares at prices not exceeding a 20% discount on the market value of the shares based on
the average of the last dealt price of the share for the five market days prior to the date of grant, as quoted
and shown on the daily Financial News published by the SGX-ST, or its nominal value, whichever is higher.
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SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Cont'd)

Asiatravel.com Performance Share Plan (“Share Plan”)

Under Share Plan, subject to the absolute discretion of the Remuneration Committee, full time employees,
including all executive and non-executive directors, are eligible to participate in Share Plan provided
that, as of the Date of the Grant, such persons have attained the age of twenty-one (21) years, are not
undischarged bankrupts and have not entered into any composition(s) with their respective creditors, and
in the case of Employees, must have been in employment of the Group for at least twelve (12) months,
or shorter period as the Committee may determine.

Movement of share options during the financial year

The following table illustrates the number (“No.") and weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) of, and
movements in, equity-settled share options during the year.

2016 2015
No. WAEP No. WAEP
Outstanding at beginning and end of year 300,000 0.21 300,000 0.21
Exercisable at end of year 300,000 0.21 300,000 0.21

“ The exercise price for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.21 (2015: $0.21). The weighted average
remaining contractual life for these options is 1.54 years (2015: 2.58 years)

The carrying amount of the share-based compensation reserve, recognised in the Group’s and the
Company'’s balance sheets relating to equity-settled options granted under the Share Option Scheme
at 30 September 2016 is $1,000 (2015: $4,000).

There has been no modification to the 2011 Scheme and Share Plan during both 2016 and 2015.

Options granted under the 2011 Scheme to full-time executive employees and directors of the Group are
subject to an option period of ten years, such period commencing from the date of grant and expiring
on the day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. The options are exercisable
on the first anniversary of the date of grant. At the end of the financial year, there were 300,000 unissued
ordinary shares of the Company under options as follows:

Options | Options
Balance at | Granted | exercised | cancelled |Balance at
beginning | during |during the|during the|end of the| Subscription | Expiry
Date of grant | of the year| the year year year year price date
Options granted
under the 2011
Scheme
15 April
16 April 2013 300,000 - - - 300,000 $0.205 2018

During the financial year, there were 300,000 unissued shares of the Company under options.

Subsequent to end of the financial year and up to the date of this report, no option has been exercised.
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28. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

In compliance with the requirements of the Singapore Exchange, the number of directors whose
emoluments fall within the following bands are as follows:

Number of directors

Company
2016 2015
$'000 $’000
$250,000 to $499,999 1 1
Below $250,000 3 3
The aggregate directors’' remuneration by category are as follows:
2016 2015
Non- Non-
Executive | Executive Executive | Executive
Director | Directors Total Director | Directors Total
$’000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Directors’ fees of the
Company
- current year - 78 78 - 78 78
Salaries 330 - 330 269 - 269
Bonus 22 - 22 22 - 22
Defined contributions 8 - 8 9 - 9
360 78 438 300 78 378

134



ANNUAL REPORT 2016

29.

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and
services and has seven reportable operating segments as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Hotel reservation:

Provision of online hotel room booking service through the Group’s website and wholesale hotel
reservation services.

Hotel Promotion service:

Promotion of hotels’ and resorts’ products and services on interactive and cable television
channels.

Attraction tickets, transportation and tour packages:

Arrangement of inbound and outbound sightseeing tours and provision of accommodation,
meals and transport management services.

Air tickets:
Provision of online air tickets through the Group's website.
Corporate:

General corporate income such as dividend income and management fees derived from
subsidiaries.

Online wholesale:

Provision of online air-tickets, accommodation and tour packages to travel agencies — B2B
(“Business to Business”).

Flight packages:

Provision of online air-tickets, accommodation and tour packages to customers - B2C (“Business
to Customers”).

No operating segment has been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated
based on operating profit or loss which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured
differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Group financing (including
finance costs) and income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Transactions between operating segments took place at terms agreed between the segments.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Notes Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements.

A. Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

B. Other non-cash expenses consist of inventories written-down, provision for impairment loss,
and bad debts written off as presented in the respective notes to the financial statements.

C. The following items are added to/(deducted from) segment loss to arrive at “loss before tax”
presented in the consolidated income statement.

2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Finance costs (228) (183)
Unallocated corporate income 1,557 47
1,329 (136)
D. Additions to non-current assets consist of additions to property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets.
E. The following items are added to segment assets to arrive at total assets reported in the
consolidated balance sheet:
2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Deferred tax assets 5 5
Inter-segment assets 85 85
20 90
F. The following items are added to segment liabilities to arrive at total liabilities reported in the
consolidated balance sheet:
2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Deferred tax liabilities 3 3
Income tax payable 24 38
Obligations under finance leases 1,639 2,556
1,666 2,597
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For the financial year ended 30 September 2016
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Geographical information

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets
respectively are as follows:

Revenue Non-current assets

2016 2015 2016 2015

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Singapore 52,948 43,694 9,261 10,190
Philippines 14,478 11,331 236 234
Thailand 3,270 4,120 136 43
Hong Kong 3,906 4,972 2,725 3,092
Middle East 5,813 6,179 18 30
Malaysia 13 8 2 6
Others 17,226 17,878 250 469
97,654 88,182 12,628 14,064

Non-current assets information presented above consist of property, plantand equipment and intangible
assets as presented in the consolidated balance sheet.

Information about major customer

Revenue from two major sales agents amounts to $25,952,000 (2015: $26,357,000).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of
financial instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign
currency risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management
of these risks. The Audit Committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk
management process. It is, and has been throughout the current and previous financial year, the Group's
policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Company’s exposure to the above-
mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont'd)

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a
counterpart default on its obligations.

The management has a credit policy in place and exposure of credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis. The management believes that concentration of credit risk is limited due to
ongoing credit evaluations on all customers and maintaining an allowance for doubtful debts,
which the management believes will adequately provide for potential credit risks. The Group
has also placed its surplus funds in a number of different banks. Therefore, the Group does not
expect to incur material credit losses on its financial instruments.

Excessive risk concentration

Concentrations of credit risk exist when changes in the economic, industry or geographical
factors similarly affect groups of counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant
in relation to the Group's total credit exposure. As the majority of the Group’s debtors are from
the tourism sector, this may give rise to a concentration of credit risk. It is the Group's policy to
enter into transactions with a diversity of credit-worthy counterparties so as to mitigate any
significant concentration of credit risk.

Exposure to credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in
the balance sheets.

Credit risk concentration profile

The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country of its trade
receivables on an ongoing basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group's trade
receivables at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Group
2016 2015
$'000 % of total $’000 % of total

By country:

China 5,467 51 5,723 53
Indonesia 2,983 28 3,410 31
Singapore 1,587 14 1,030 9
Hong Kong 120 1 171 2
Other countries 606 6 501 5
At 31 December 10,763 100 10,835 100

Atthe end of the reporting period, approximately 79% (2015: 84%) of the Group's trade receivables
are due from 2 major sales agents.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont'd)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Cont'd)

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due norimpaired are with creditworthy debtors
with good payment record with the Group. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with reputable
financial institutions.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note
10 (trade receivables).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting
financial obligations due to shortage of funds.

The Group and the Company are not exposed to liquidity risk. It has surplus funds deposited
with various banks and does not anticipate any problem in obtaining external funding in the
foreseeable future when the need arises.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted
repayment obligations.

1yearor 1to5 Over

2016 less years 5 years Total
Group $’000 $'000 $'000 $’000
Financial assets
Other investments - - 85 85
Trade receivables 10,763 - - 10,763
Other receivables 7,887 - - 7,887
Fixed deposits and cash pledged 2,066 - - 2,066
Cash and cash equivalents 3,932 - - 3,932
Total undiscounted financial assets 24,648 - 85 24,733
Financial liabilities
Trade payables 5,255 - - 5,255
Other payables 7,836 - - 7,836
Obligations under finance leases 1,061 707 - 1,768
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 14,152 707 - 14,859
Total net undiscounted financial

assets/(liabilities) 10,496 (707) 85 9,874
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(b) Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

1yearor 1to5 Over

2016 less years 5 years Total
Company $'000 $’000 $’000 $'000
Financial assets
Trade receivables 1,195 - - 1,195
Other receivables 5,308 - - 5,308
Amounts due from subsidiaries 17,957 - - 17,957
Fixed deposits and cash pledged 1,906 - - 1,906
Cash and cash equivalents 1,844 - - 1,844
Total undiscounted financial assets 28,210 - - 28,210
Financial liabilities
Other payables 2,123 - - 2,123
Amounts due to subsidiaries 15,519 - - 15,519
Obligations under finance leases 40 142 - 182
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 17,682 142 - 17,824
Total net undiscounted financial assets/

(liabilities) 10,528 (142) - 10,386

1yearor 1to5 Over

2015 less years 5 years Total
Group $’000 $'000 $’000 $'000
Financial assets
Other investments - - 85 85
Trade receivables 10,835 - - 10,835
Other receivables 2,148 - - 2,148
Amounts due from other related parties 7 - - 7
Fixed deposits and cash pledged 2,974 - - 2,974
Cash and cash equivalents 6,074 - - 6,074
Total undiscounted financial assets 22,038 - 85 22,123
Financial liabilities
Trade payables 3,494 - - 3,494
Other payables 5,549 - - 5,549
Obligations under finance leases 1,092 1,768 - 2,860
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 10,135 1,768 - 11,903
Total net undiscounted financial assets/

(liabilities) 11,903 (1,768) 85 10,220
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

1yearor 1to5 Over

2015 less years 5 years Total
Company $'000 $’000 $’000 $'000
Financial assets
Trade receivables 308 - - 308
Other receivables 94 - - 94
Amounts due from subsidiaries 13,967 - - 13,967
Fixed deposits and cash pledged 2,730 - - 2,730
Cash and cash equivalents 3,262 - - 3,262
Total undiscounted financial assets 20,361 - - 20,361
Financial liabilities
Other payables 1,597 - - 1,597
Amounts due to subsidiaries 12,666 - - 12,666
Obligations under finance leases 40 182 - 222
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 14,303 182 - 14,485
Total net undiscounted financial assets/

(liabilities) 6,058 (182) - 5,876

Interest rate risk

Interest raterisk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group or the
Company is not exposed to interest rate risk. The Group’s and the Company'’s obligations under
finance leases are in fixed interest rate terms.

The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favorable interest rates available whenever the Group
obtains additional financing leasing arrangements.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases that are
denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities,
primarily Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD"), Thai Baht (“THB"), Philippine Peso (“Peso”) and United Arab
Emir. Dirham (“AED”). The foreign currencies in which these transactions are denominated are
mainly U.S Dollars (“USD"). Approximately 5% (2015: 6%) of the Group's sales are denominated
in foreign currencies whilst almost 5% (2015: 6%) of costs are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of the entities within the Group. The Group’s trade receivable and trade
payable balances at the end of the reporting period have similar exposures.

The Group and Company also hold cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies
for working capital purposes. At the end of the reporting period, such foreign currency balances
(mainly in USD, HKD, Peso and THB) amounted to $3,474,000 and $1,686,000 (2015: $5,697,000
and $3,766,000) for the Group and Company respectively.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont'd)

(d)

Foreign currency risk (Cont'd)

The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign
operations, including Malaysia, Hong Kong, Indonesia, Philippines, United Arab Emirates and
Thailand.

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to protect against the volatility associated
with foreign currency transactions and investments, and other financial assets and liabilities

created in the ordinary course of business.

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s loss net of tax to a reasonably
possible change in the USD, HKD, THB, Peso and AED against the respective functional currencies
of the Group entities, with all other variables held constant.

Group
Loss net of tax

2016 2015

$'000 $'000
usb
- strengthened 5% (2015: 5%) 55 114
- weakened 5% (2015: 5%) (55) (114)
HKD
- strengthened 5% (2015: 5%) 15 45
- weakened 5% (2015: 5%) (15) (45)
THB
- strengthened 5% (2015: 5%) (51) 9)
- weakened 5% (2015: 5%) 51 9
PESO
- strengthened 3% (2015: 3%) 26 23
— weakened 3% (2015: 3%) (26) (23)
AED
- strengthened 5% (2015: 5%) (10) 11
— weakened 5% (2015: 5%) 10 11)
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
or settled between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Financial instruments carried at other than fair value

Itis not practicable to determine with sufficient reliability without incurring excessive costs, the
fair value of unquoted equity shares, as there were no quoted market prices in an active market
nor are other reasonable methods of making an estimation of the fair values readily available.
The Group does not intend to dispose of these unquoted equity shares in the foreseeable future.

Fair value estimates are made at a specific pointin time and based on relevant market information
about the financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature, involve uncertainties and
matters of significant judgment and, therefore, cannot be determined with precision. Changes
in assumptions could significantly affect these estimates.

Financial instruments whose carrying amount approximate fair value

Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and short-term deposits,
current trade and other receivables, current trade and other payables, bank loan and related
party balances, based on their notional amounts, are reasonable approximation of fair value
due to their short-term nature.

Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value
but for which fair value is disclosed.

The fair value of financial liabilities by classes that are not carried at fair value but for which fair
value is disclosed as follows:

Group
2016 2015
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000
Financial liability:
- Obligations under finance leases
(non-current) 18 673 707 1,639 1,768
Company
2016 2015
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
Note| $'000 $’000 $’000 $'000
Financial liability:
- Obligations under finance leases
(non-current) 18 132 142 165 182

The fair value as disclosed in the table above is based on significant unobservable inputs (level
3) and estimated by discounting expected future cash flows at market incremental lending rate
for similar types of leasing arrangements at the end of the reporting period.
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Carrying amounts of financial instruments by categories

The table below is an analysis of the carrying amounts of financial instruments by categories as at

30 September:
Group Company
Note | 2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $'000 $’000 $'000
Loans and receivables
—Trade receivables 10 10,763 10,835 1,195 308
- Other receivables 11 7,887 2,148 5,308 94
— Amounts due from subsidiaries 12 - - 17,957 13,967
- Amounts due from other related parties| 13 - 7 - -
- Fixed deposits and cash pledged 14 2,066 2,974 1,906 2,730
- Cash and cash equivalents 14 3,932 6,074 1,844 3,262
24,648 22,038 28,210 20,361
Available-for-sale financial assets
- Other investments 7 85 85 - -
Financial liabilities carried at amortised
cost
Current liabilities
—Trade payables 15 5,255 3,494 - -
- Other payables 15 7,836 5,549 2,123 1,597
— Amounts due to subsidiaries 17 - - 15,519 12,666
- Obligations under finance leases 18 966 917 33 32
Non-current liability
- Obligations under finance leases 18 673 1,639 132 165
14,730 11,599 17,807 14,460
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Compensation of key management personnel

Group

2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Directors’fees of the Company 78 78
Defined contributions 38 35
Salaries and other emoluments 788 549
Bonus 77 92
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 981 754

Analysed as follows:

Directors of the Company 438 378
Other key management personnel 543 376
981 754

The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the Remuneration Committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

Directors’and key management personnel’s interests in an employee share option plan

At the end of the reporting period, there is Nil (2015: Nil) outstanding share options granted by the
Company to the Company'’s directors and key management personnel.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Capital includes debt and equity items as disclosed in the table below.

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise
shareholders’value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return of capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
during the years ended 30 September 2016 and 30 September 2015.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

For the financial year ended 30 September 2016
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

The Group monitors its capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net
debt. The Group includes within net debt, obligations under finance leases, trade and other payables,
and amounts due to related parties. Capital relates to equity attributable to the owners of the Company.

Group

2016 2015

$'000 $’000
Obligations under finance leases (Note 18) 1,639 2,556
Trade payables (Note 15) 5,255 3,494
Other payables (Note 15) 7,836 5,549
Net debt 14,730 11,599
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 23,038 24,566
Capital and net debt 37,768 36,165
Gearing ratio 39% 32%

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 25 November 2016, the Company has announced completion of placement of 47,000,000 new shares
to ZhongHong New World International Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of ZhongHong Holding Co.,

Ltd at $0.20 each amounting to $9,400,000. The placement proceeds of $9,400,000 has been received
on 25 November 2016.

AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE

The financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2016 were authorised for issue in accordance
with a resolution of the directors on 28 December 2016.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

AS AT 15 DECEMBER 2016

Class of equity securities

Number of equity securities

Voting Rights

Ordinary Shares 432,765,286 One vote per share
DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
No. of

Size of Shareholdings Shareholders % No. of Shares %
1-99 12 1.07 375 #
100 - 1,000 141 12.62 116,833 0.03
1,000 - 10,000 364 32.59 2,352,187 0.54
10,001 - 1,000,000 575 51.48 43,310,309 10.01
1,000,001 and above 25 2.24 386,985,582 89.42
Total 1,117 100.00 432,765,286 100.00

# - Less than 0.01%

TREASURY SHARES

Number of treasury shares : 16,969,000
Percentage of treasury shares against the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares : 3.92%

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Substantial Shareholders Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %
Toread Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (“Toread”)" - - 60,000,000 13.86
Goh Khoon Lim®@ - - 40,794,437 9.43
28 Holdings Pte Ltd (“28 Holdings") 10,166,500 2.35 16,820,812 3.89
Gan Suat Lui® - - 26,987,312 6.24
Vision Capital Pte Ltd (“Vision Capital”) 24,768,000 5.72 - -
See Lop Fu, James® - - 24,768,000 5.72
Ong Nai Pew ® - - 26,810,366 6.20
Sheng Fagiang © - - 60,000,000 3.86
Zhong Hong New World International Limited 88,500,000 20.45 - -
ZhongHong New World Investment Pte Ltd ? - - 88,500,000 20.45
ZhongHong Xingi Shijie Investment Ltd ® - - 88,500,000 20.45
ZhongHong Holding Co., Ltd © - - 128,500,000 29.69
ZhongHong Zhuoye Group Ltd % - - 128,500,000 29.69
Wang Yonghong " - - 128,500,000 29.69

a
[¢]

shareholdings in 28 Holdings.

Goh Khoon Lim is the beneficiary holder of 12,273,000 shares held by DBS Nominees Pte Ltd and 1,534,125 shares held by

AmFraser Nominees.
(

i

in 28 Holdings.

@

(5

[(

&

7

Pte. Ltd.

Zhonghong New World Investment Pte. Ltd. is deemed interested in the shares held by Zhong Hong New World International

Limited.
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James See’s deemed interest arises from 24,768,000 shares held by Vision Capital.
Ong Nai Pew’s deemed interest arises from 26,810,366 shares held through nominees.
Sheng Fagiang is deemed to have an interest in 60,000,000 Shares held by Toread through his controlling interest in Toread.

Zhong Hong New World International Limited is the direct wholly owned subsidiary of Zhonghong New World Investment

Toread’s deemed interest arises from 60,000,000 shares registered in the name of its nominee.
Goh Khoon Lim is deemed to have interest in the 26,987,312 shares held by 28 Holdings through his not less than 20%

Gan Suat Luiis deemed to have interest in the 26,987,312 shares held by 28 Holdings through her not less than 20% shareholdings
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® Zhong Hong New World International Limited is the indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Zhonghong Xingi Shijie Investment
Ltd.

Zhong Hong New World International Limited is deemed interested in the shares held by Zhong Hong New World International
Limited.

© Zhonghong Holding Co., Ltd. holds 100% of the issued share capital of Zhonghong Xingi Shijie Investment Ltd.
Zhonghong Xingi Shijie Investment Ltd holds 100% of the issued share capital of Zhonghong New World Investment Pte. Ltd.

Zhonghong New World Investment Pte. Ltd. holds 100% of the issued share capital of Zhong Hong New World International
Limited.

Zhonghong Holding Co., Ltd. is deemed interested in the shares held by Zhong Hong New World International Limited.
(19 Zhonghong Zhuoye Group Ltd holds 26.55% of the issued share capital of Zhonghong Holding Co., Ltd.
Zhonghong Holding Co., Ltd. holds 100% of the issued share capital of Zhonghong Xingi Shijie Investment Ltd.
Zhonghong Xingi Shijie Investment Ltd holds 100% of the issued share capital of Zhonghong New World Investment Pte. Ltd.

Zhonghong New World Investment Pte. Ltd. holds 100% of the issued share capital of Zhong Hong New World
International Limited.

Zhonghong Zhuoye Group Ltd is deemed interested in the shares held by Zhong Hong New World International Limited.
("M Wang Yonghong holds 100% of the issued share capital of Zhonghong Zhuoye Group Ltd.
Zhonghong Zhuoye Group Ltd holds 26.55% of the issued share capital of Zhonghong Holding Co., Ltd.
Zhonghong Holding Co., Ltd. holds 100% of the issued share capital of Zhonghong Xingi Shijie Investment Ltd.
Zhonghong Xingi Shijie Investment Ltd holds 100% of the issued share capital of Zhonghong New World Investment Pte. Ltd.

Zhonghong New World Investment Pte. Ltd. holds 100% of the issued share capital of Zhong Hong New World International
Limited.

Wang Yonghong is deemed interested in the shares held by Zhong Hong New World International Limited.

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDER

No. |[Name No. of shares %
1 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 134,054,975 30.98
2 UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 62,332,850 14.40
3 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 35,778,516 8.27
4 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 29,299,650 6.77
5 VISION CAPITAL PRIVATE LIMITED 24,768,000 5.72
6 KGI SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 20,242,787 4.68
7 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED 13,648,750 3.15
8 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 11,466,600 2.65
9 28 HOLDINGS PTE. LTD. 10,166,500 2.35
10 MAYBANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PRIVATE LIMITED 7,345,426 1.70
11 HONG LEONG FINANCE NOMINEES PTE LTD 5,868,000 1.36
12 CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 4,692,017 1.08
13 TEO AH BAN 3,969,000 0.92
14 MORGAN STANLEY ASIA (SINGAPORE) SECURITIES PTE LTD 3,618,600 0.84
15 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD 2,991,974 0.69
16 YEO WEE HOON 2,252,552 0.52
17 ZHANG CHENGSHUANG 1,860,000 0.43
18 HL BANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 1,846,625 0.43
19 | ANG KONG BENG @ ANG KONG ENG 1,800,000 0.42
20 KHOO HO TONG 1,766,250 0.41
TOTAL 379,769,072 87.77

PRECENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDINGS IN PUBLIC’S HANDS

30.38% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of the public.

Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual - Section B : Rule of the Catalist of
the SGX-ST.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Asiatravel.com
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ASIATRAVEL.COM HOLDINGS LTD
(Company Registration No. 199907534E)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM") of Asiatravel.com Holdings Ltd (the“Company”)
will be held at 743 Lorong 5 Toa Payoh, Level 2, Singapore 319457 on Wednesday, 25 January 2017 at 10.00 a.m.
to transact the following business:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

To receive and adopt the Directors’Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company and
the Group for the financial year ended 30 September 2016 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.
(Resolution 1)

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of $$93,840 for the financial year ended 30 September 2016.
(2015: 5$78,200) (Resolution 2)

3. To note that Mr. Sheng Fagiang will be retiring pursuant to Regulation 104 of the Constitution of the
Company and he will not be seeking re-election at this Annual General Meeting.

4, To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as the Auditor of the Company and to authorise the Directors of
the Company to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 3)

5. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly transacted at an AGM.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions, with or without modifications:

6.

150

Authority to issue shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies
Act, Chapter 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual - Section B: Rules of the Catalist of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) (“Catalist Rules”)

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Rule 806 of the Catalist Rules of the
SGX-ST, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to:

(a) (i) issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise;
and/or
(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might

or would require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and
issue of (as well as adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments
convertible into shares,
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atany time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as
the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force)
issue shares pursuant to any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution
was in force,

(the “Share Issue Mandate”)

provided that:

(M

)

4)

the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued pursuant to the Instruments, made
or granted pursuant to this Resolution) and Instruments to be issued pursuant to this Resolution
shall not exceed one hundred per centum (100%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding
treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph
(2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares and Instruments to be issued other than on
a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed fifty per centum (50%)
of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company
(as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

(subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining
the aggregate number of shares and Instruments that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1)
above, the percentage of issued shares and Instruments shall be based on the number of issued
shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of
this Resolution, after adjusting for:

(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible
securities;
(b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding

and subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution; and
(c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

in exercising the Share Issue Mandate conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply
with the provisions of the Catalist Rules for the time being in force (unless such compliance has
been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Constitution of the Company; and

unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, the Share Issue Mandate shall
continue in force (i) until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company or the date by which
the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier or (ii) in the
case of shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this
Resolution, until the issuance of such shares in accordance with the terms of the Instruments.

[See Explanatory Note (i)] (Resolution 4)
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Authority toissue shares under The Asiatravel.com Share Option Scheme 2011 (the”2011 Scheme”)
and Asiatravel.com Performance Share Plan (the “Share Plan”)

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, the Directors of the Company be authorised
and empowered to:

(a) grant options under the 2011 Scheme and grant awards in accordance with the provisions of
the Share Plan; and

(b) issue from time to time such number of shares in the share capital of the Company as may be
required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted by the Company under the
2011 Scheme and/or such number of ordinary shares as may be required to be issued pursuant
to the vesting of awards under the Share Plan,

provided always that the aggregate number of shares over (i) the options that may be granted on any
date under the 2011 Scheme, and/or (ii) the awards granted on any date under the Share Plan, when
added to the number of shares issued and/or issuable in respect of:

(i) all options granted under the 2011 scheme;

(ii) all awards granted under the Share Plan; and

(iii) all shares, options or awards granted under any other share-based incentive scheme of the
Company,

shall not exceed fifteen per centum (15%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares)
in the capital of the Company from time to time and that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied
by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of the
Company or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever
is earlier.

[See Explanatory Note (ii)] (Resolution 5)
Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate
That:

(a) for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Companies Act”),
the exercise by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or
otherwise acquire ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) not exceeding in
aggregate the Prescribed Limit (as hereinafter defined), at such price(s) as may be determined
by the Directors of the Company from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereinafter
defined), whether by way of:

(i) market purchases (each a “Market Purchase”) on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST"); and/or

(ii) off-market purchases (each an “Off-Market Purchase”) effected otherwise than on
the SGX-ST in accordance with any equal access schemes as may be determined or
formulated by the Directors of the Company as they consider fit, which schemes shall
satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act,
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and otherwise in accordance with all other provisions of the Companies Act and the Catalist Rules
as may for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorized and approved generally
and unconditionally (the “Share Buy Back Mandate”);

(b) any Share that is purchased or otherwise acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Buy
Back Mandate shall, at the discretion of the Directors of the Company, either be cancelled or
held in treasury and dealt with in accordance with the Companies Act;

(c) unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the
Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Buy Back Mandate may be exercised by the
Directors at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the passing
of this Resolution and expiring on the earliest of:

(i) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held or is required
by law to be held;

(i) the date on which the share buybacks are carried out to the full extent mandated; or

(iii) the date on which the authority contained in the Share Buy Back Mandate is varied or
revoked (“Relevant Period");

(d) for purposes of this Resolution:

“Prescribed Limit” means ten per centum (10%) of the total number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company as at the date of passing of this Resolution unless the Company has effected a reduction of the
share capital of the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, at any
time during the Relevant Period, in which event the issued ordinary share capital of the Company shall
be taken to be the amount of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as altered (excluding any
treasury shares that may be held by the Company from time to time);

“Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased, means an amount (excluding brokerage,
commission, stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax, clearance fees and other related expenses)
not exceeding:

(i) in the case of a Market Purchase: 105% of the Average Closing Price; and

(i) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase: 120% of the Average Closing Price, where:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last five market
days, on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, preceding the day of the Market Purchase or,
as the case maybe, the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase and deemed
to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant five-day period or;

“date of the making of the offer”means the date on which the Company makes an offer for the purchase
or acquisition of Shares from holders of Shares, stating therein the relevant terms of the equal access

scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase; and

“market day” means a day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities; and
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(e) any of the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts
and things (including without limitation, to execute all such documents as may be required and
to approve any amendments, alterations or modifications to any documents), as they or he/she
may consider desirable, expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated
by this Resolution.

[See Explanatory Note (iii)] (Resolution 6)

By Order of the Board
Shirley Tan Sey Liy
Company Secretary

Singapore, 9 January 2017

154



ANNUAL REPORT 2016

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (Cont'd)

EXPLANATORY NOTES:

(0]

(i)

(iii)

Resolution 5 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this AGM
until the date of the next AGM of the Company, or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is
required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting,
whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant instruments convertible into shares and to issue
shares pursuant to such instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, one hundred per centum
(100%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of
which up to fifty per centum (50%) may be issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders
of the Company.

For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares
in the capital of the Company will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares (excluding
treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time this Resolution is passed after adjusting for
new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible securities, the
exercise of share options or the vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time when this
Resolution is passed and any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares.

Resolution 6 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of this AGM until
the next AGM of the Company, or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law
to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the
earlier, to grant options and/or awards and to issue shares in the share capital of the Company pursuant
to the 2011 Scheme or the Share Plan, up to a number not exceeding in total fifteen per centum (15%)
of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company from time
to time.

Resolution 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company effective until the conclusion of
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting
of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a
general meeting or the date on which shares purchases or acquisitions are carried out to the full extent
mandated, whichever is the earliest, to purchase or otherwise acquire ordinary shares of the Company
by way of Market Purchase or Off- Market Purchase of up to ten per centum (10%) of the total number of
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the Maximum Price as defined
in the Circular to Shareholders dated 9 January 2017 (the “Circular”). The rationale for, the authority and
limitation on, the sources of funds to be used for the purchase or acquisition including the amount of
financing and the financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of ordinary shares by the Company
pursuant to the Share Buy Back Mandate on the audited consolidated financial accounts of the Group
for the financial year ended 30 September 2016 are set out in greater detail in the Circular.
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NOTES:

A Member (other than a Relevant Intermediary*) entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General
Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his/her
stead. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

Where a member (other than a Relevant Intermediary*) appoints two proxies, the appointments shall
be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of
the whole) to be represented by each proxy in the instrument appointing the proxies.

ARelevant Intermediary may appoint more than 2 proxies, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise
the rights attached to a different share or shares held by him (which number and class of shares shall be
specified).

A member of the Company which is a corporation is entitled to appoint its authorised representative
or proxy to vote on its behalf. The appointment of proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its
duly authorised officer or attorney in writing.

The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 615
Lorong 4 Toa Payoh, #01-01 Storhub, Singapore 319516 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the
Meeting.

* A Relevant Intermediary is:

a)
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abanking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Chapter 19) or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such
abanking corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares
in that capacity; or

a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the
Securities Futures Act (Chapter 289) and who holds shares in that capacity; or

the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Chapter 36), in respect
of shares purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of
investments from the contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident
Fund, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance
with that subsidiary legislation.
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PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

Where a member of the Company submits an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend,
speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i)
consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for
the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives
appointed for the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and
compilation of the attendance lists, proxy lists, minutes and other documents relating to the Annual General
Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any
applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (i) warrants that where
the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its
agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection,
use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s)
for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities,
claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.

This announcement has been reviewed by the Company’s Sponsor, RHT Capital Pte. Ltd. (“Sponsor”), for compliance
with the relevant rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST").

The Sponsor has not independently verified the contents of this announcement. This announcement has not been
examined or approved by the SGX-ST and the SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the contents of this announcement
including the correctness of any of the statements or opinions made or reports contained in this announcement.

The contact person for the Sponsor is:-

Name: Ms Amanda Chen, Registered Professional, RHT Capital Pte. Ltd.

Address: Six Battery Road, #10-01, Singapore 049909
Tel: (65) 6381 6757
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1. Aninvestor who holds shares under the Central Provident Fund
Investment Scheme (“CPF Investor”) and/or the Supplementary
Retirement Scheme (“SRS Investors”) (as may be applicable) may
attend and cast his vote(s) at the Meeting in person. CPF and SRS
Investors who are unable to attend the Meeting but would like
to vote, may inform their CPF and/or SRS Approved Nominees

Company Registration No. 199907534E to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting to act as their proxy, in

(Incorporated In Singapore) which case, the CPF and SRS Investors shall be precluded from

attending the Meeting.

Asiatravel.com
_— “" =

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF and SRS Investors

AN NUAL GENERAL MEETING and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or
PROXY FORM purported to be used by them.

(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

1/We, (Name) (NRIC/Passport No.)
of. (Address)
being a member/members of Asiatravel.com Holdings Ltd (the “Company”), hereby appoint:
Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %
Address

*and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company to be
held at 743 Lorong 5 Toa Payoh, Level 2, Singapore 319457 on Wednesday, 25 January 2017 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment
thereof. 1/We* direct my/our* proxy/proxies* to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder.
In the absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting as *he/they may think fit, as he/they will
on any other matter arising at the AGM.

No. | Resolutions relating to: No. of votes No. of votes
‘For'** ‘Against’**

Ordinary Business

1 | Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 September 2016

2 | Approval of Directors' fees amounting to $$93,840 for the financial year ended
30 September 2016

3 | Re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as Auditor and to authorise the
Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration

Special Business

4 | Authority to allot and issue new shares

5 | Authority to allot and issue shares under the Asiatravel.com Share Option Scheme
2011 and Asiatravel.com Performance Share Plan

6 | Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate

** /oting will be conducted by poll. Ifyou wish to exercise all your votes ‘For’ or ‘Against; please tick (v) within the box provided. Alternatively,
please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.

Dated this day of 2017
Total number of Shares in: | No. of Shares
(a) CDP Register
(b) Register of Members

Signature of Member

and, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

* Delete where inapplicable
IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF



NOTES:

1.

Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore), you should insert
that number of Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that
number of Shares. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered
in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your
name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted,
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

Amember of the Company (other than a Relevant Intermediary*), entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company
is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the
Company.

Where a member (other than a Relevant Intermediary*) appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless
he/she specifies the proportion of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented
by each proxy.

A Relevant Intermediary may appoint more than 2 proxies, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights
attached to a different share or shares held by him (which number and class of shares shall be specified)

Subject to note 9, completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from
attending and voting at the Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a
member attends the meeting in person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any
person or persons appointed under the instrument of proxy to the Meeting.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 615 Lorong
4Toa Payoh, #01-01 Storhub, Singapore 319516 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for the
Meeting.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly
authorised in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be
executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument
appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney
or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as
it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, and the person so authorised shall upon production of a copy
of such resolution certified by a director of the corporation to be a true copy, be entitled to exercise the powers on
behalf of the corporation so represented as the corporation could exercise in person if it were an individual.

An investor who holds shares under the Central Provident Fund Investment Scheme (“CPF Investors”) and/or the
Supplementary Retirement Scheme (“SRS Investors”) (as may be applicable) may attend and cast his vote(s) at the
Meeting in person. CPF and SRS Investors who are unable to attend the Meeting but would like to vote, may inform
their CPF and/or SRS Approved Nominees to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting to act as their proxy, in which case,
the CPF and SRS Investors shall be precluded from attending the Meeting.

* A Relevant Intermediary is:

a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Chapter 19) or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a
banking corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in
that capacity; or

b) a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the
Securities Futures Act (Chapter 289) and who holds shares in that capacity; or

<) the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Chapter 36), in respect
of shares purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of
investments from the contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident
Fund, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with
that subsidiary legislation.

GENERAL:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed
orillegible, or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified
in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the
Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown
to have Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed
for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal
data privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 9 January 2017.

._.__._}<__.__.____.__.__.__.__.__.____.__.__.__.__.__.____.__.__.__.__.__.____.__.__.__.__.__.____.__.__.__.__.__.____.__.__.__.__.__.____.__.__.__.__.__.____.__.__.__.__.__..
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